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Vision
EPSL’s Vision is to be the 

preferred gateway Port to the 

Goldfields-Esperance and 

Yilgarn Regions of Western 

Australia.

Mission
Provide services that are 

competitive, innovative and 

customer focused.

Work with our people and our 

partners to deliver economic 

growth to the region.

Operate in a socially 

responsible and sustainable 

manner.

Values
Demonstrate efficiency and 

business acumen to our 

shareholders.

Show respect and integrity in 

dealings with our employees.

Provide service and 

act professionally and 

responsively to our 

customers.

Engage with our community.

Recognise our role in 

preserving our heritage and 

environment.

Vision, Mission and Values
EPSL’s primary role is to facilitate trade, to support industry in this function, operate in a safe 

and efficient manner and return a dividend to the Government of Western Australia. Vision, 

Mission and Values statements supporting its aspirations are:

Contacts
Postal PO Box 35, Esperance WA 6450

Street The Esplanade, Esperance WA 6450

Phone (08) 9072 3333 Fax (08) 9071 1312

Email admin@epsl.com.au Web www.epsl.com.au
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Aerial view of Esperance Port
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Esperance Port’s new $2.2 million pilot launch
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2013–2014
Results at a Glance

Operational

Total Trade 

More than 14.938 million tonnes - a record

Total Exports 

14.109 million tonnes - a record

Total Container Trade 

26,186 TEU’s

Total Imports 

829,024 tonnes

Number of Cargo Carrying Vessels 

197

Gross Tonnage 

9.835 million tonnes - a record

Financial

Revenue 

$82.592 million - a record

Expenditure 

$79.250 million - a record

Financial Result 

Trading profit of $3.398 million

Capital Expenditure 

$8.045 million

Wages and Salaries 

$16.774 million 



Esperance Port is well established in fulfilling its potential as 
the international gateway for the Goldfields Esperance Region 
and as a major asset for the resource industry. The last year 
has been one of notable achievements with the resolution of a 
number of outstanding contractual and operational issues. 

Much of the progress can be attributed to the work done 
by the Port’s CEO, Shayne Flanagan, and his management 
team. Mr Flanagan did not seek to renew his contract 
following expiry on 30 June 2014. Shayne made a significant 
contribution to the Port during his tenure as CEO in 
challenging times and, on behalf of the Board, I wish him the 
best in his future endeavours. 

The prosperity of the region will be significantly enhanced by 
the increasing activity in the Port and it was pleasing that in 
early May the Minister for Transport announced the selection 
of the Yilgarn Esperance Solutions (YES) consortium as the 
preferred proponent to design, build and operate a new multi-
user iron ore facility at the Port. Once contractual and financial 
closure has been reached with the Port the scope of the new 
facility will be determined. Current operations also continue 
to improve and the outcome for the year was a significant 
improvement in operational performance that resulted in 
record cargo handling figures being achieved and an after tax 
operating profit, the first one for a number of years. 

Sustaining the assets at the Port is critical and the 
maintenance works carried out during the year, particularly 
during two major shutdowns on berth three, were expedited 
in such a way as to have little impact on the Port’s operations. 
The Board acknowledges the work done by the Operations 
and Maintenance Departments to achieve this.  Added to 
that has been the acquisition of a new pilot vessel and the 
installation of a new tensioning system to improve safety 
and reliability at the Port. As well a program of maintenance 
dredging has been carried out to preserve the Port’s capacity 
to handle appropriate shipping.

Another milestone for the Port was the signing of a new 
Agreement with our major customer Cliffs Natural Resources.  
Progress was also made with First Quantum Minerals in 
finalising a long-term Access Agreement. 

Negotiations also continued with a number of companies 
regarding the export of new products through the Port, 
particularly nickel concentrates and woodchips. Also, the Port 
and Shell are close to agreement on the design of a new fuel 
pipeline to be installed on berth one that will ease shipping 
congestion on berth two. 

During the year, a study was commissioned to determine the 
state of the nickel concentrate circuit and the cost to bring 
the infrastructure back into service if required. The circuit 
has not been used for a number of years as nickel exporters 
have turned to containers to export their products, which has 
significantly improved the Port’s environmental performance. 

I commend the new safety initiatives 
rolled out during the year that 
further enhanced the Port’s safety 
record and the significant increase 
in training hours that contributed to 
improvements in performance in all areas of the workforce. 
The Board has stressed that the safety of the workforce is 
paramount and requires vigilance from all involved in the Ports 
operations to underpin continued improvement on that front.

It is unfortunate that I have to report that despite the efforts 
of the Board and senior management, the Port was unable to 
reach agreement with its workforce on the pay and conditions 
of the Enterprise Bargaining Agreement for operational and 
maintenance personnel. As at 30 June, 2014, negotiations 
were still continuing and we are hopeful of a resolution in the 
near future. 

At the year’s end, EPSL was well prepared for the merger with 
the Albany and Bunbury ports to form the Southern Port’s 
Authority. Enabling legislation has now been passed by the 
State Parliament. It is intended that a single Board will be 
appointed to replace the three existing Boards, with regional 
representation included on the new Board. The ports will 
continue to have a locally-based port manager, and each port 
will operate as a separate business unit. The new Southern 
Port’s Authority is expected to be promulgated in the near 
future.  

It is appropriate to acknowledge the commitment and 
contribution of previous Boards and management in guiding 
the Port to the position of strength in which it now finds 
itself. The Port has had a genuine commitment to rebuilding 
the trust and confidence of the Esperance community and I 
would like to thank and acknowledge all those members of 
the Esperance community that have supported the ongoing 
operations of the Port.

In conclusion, I would like to acknowledge the support of my 
fellow Directors during the year and, in particular, the Port’s 
CEO and senior managers for their efforts during a challenging 
and busy year.  I also thank all EPSL employees for their 
dedication and service which enabled the Port to achieve 
outstanding results during the 2013-14 financial year and to 
place the organisation in a sound financial position for the 
future.

Bob McKinnon
Chairman

Chairman’s Report
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The 2013-14 financial year has been both a challenging and 
rewarding year on many fronts. The Esperance Port returned 
an after tax trading profit and recorded record revenue and 
cargo handling figures. Revenue rose by 19 percent, from 
$69.225 million the previous year to $82.592 million. This 
resulted in an operating profit of $3.398 million after tax.

This is the first profit we have recorded for several years 
as the Port has been resolving a number of legacy issues 
that have impacted on profitability. Esperance Port is now 
well positioned to deliver the financial returns expected by 
Government.

Our total trade for the year was 14.938 million tonnes, a rise 
of 7.6 percent from the previous year’s figure of 13.875 million 
tonnes. Iron ore continued to be our main export commodity 
contributing 75 percent of our total trade, while there was a 
significant increase in grain exports following an extraordinary 
harvest in the Port’s agricultural catchment area. Grain exports 
totalled 2.53 million tonnes, the first time the two million tonne 
figure had been passed. 

2013-14 also saw a number of significant major capital 
projects completed that has improved the Port’s operations, 
and the safety of our personnel.  Significant progress was also 
made on other capital items that will improve the movement of 
cargo into and out of the Port, providing significant savings in 
time and running costs.

EPSL’s Commercial Department had a busy year renegotiating 
contracts with our existing customers, providing contracts for 
the trial of woodchip exports, and finalising the arrangements 
for a new fuel discharge facility to be installed on berth one. 
Once operational, the new fuel line will free-up berth space 
on berth two. The Department also progressed Access 
Agreement negotiations with a new nickel and copper 
concentrate exporter, which may require the installation of 
rotainer technology at the Port.

During 2013-14, Esperance Port continued to conduct 
a vigorous environmental monitoring program to protect 
both its employees and the community from the impact of 
its operations.  While many of the programs implemented 
are required by legislation, the Port has gone further by 
introducing internal audits to avoid impacting on the 
environment, including the marine environment, in which we 
work. 

Although the Port has a major ongoing scheduled 
maintenance program, its berth three iron ore loading 
operations had to be shut down on two occasions during 
the year to deal with major corrosion problems identified 
during annual inspections of our infrastructure by consultant 
engineers. This is vital infrastructure that handled more than 
11 million tonnes last financial year and more than 100 million 
tonnes has gone over its belts since it was commissioned in 
2002. Repairing the corrosion was a major activity and will be 
ongoing.

The maintenance dredging program 
undertaken to return the Port 
channel and berth pockets to their 
design depths had an immediate 
effect with the cargo capacity of 
vessels increasing, providing benefits to our customers. 
This was the first dredging program undertaken since the 
2002 Port upgrade that deepened the Port waters to cater 
for Cape size vessels. These works also removed historical 
contaminants located in the berth pockets. 

I am pleased to report a significant increase in the training 
of Port personnel during the year, up from less than 2000 
hours in 2010-11 to more than 8700 hours this year. As a 
result the Port now has a skill base to meet the Continuous 
Improvement initiatives in our Operations resulting in improved 
cargo handling rates which enabled us to turn vessels around 
quicker and increase berth availability. The training paid 
particular attention to maintaining our excellent safety record 
and developing our Emergency Response Team, especially 
the recovery of any injured personnel from heights or confined 
spaces. The team has been supplied with the equipment 
necessary to expedite any required rescue.

I am pleased to report that EPSL has once again achieved 
the respect and confidence of the community through its 
open and honest dealings. The Port Community Sponsorship 
Program totalled $80,000 for the year, providing funding for 
many local educational, sporting, arts and business activities.

In conclusion, I extend my gratitude to the EPSL Directors for 
their continued guidance, and I commend our employees for 
their loyalty and commitment during a very busy year. Having 
decided not to renew my contract and to leave the Esperance 
Port as of 30 June, I would like to also thank the Minister for 
Transport’s staff, the Department of Transport, and the Multi 
User Iron Ore Facility project team for their support during my 
time as EPSL’s CEO. I also wish the Southern Ports Authority 
plain sailing in the future.

Shayne Flanagan
CEO

CEO’s Report
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Humble Beginnings

Esperance Port’s development coincided with the growth 
of the agricultural and mining industries in the Goldfields 
Esperance Region.

For a short time after the discovery of gold at Kalgoorlie in 
1893, Esperance became known as the Gateway to the 
Goldfields as men and equipment for the mines came through 
the Port. As early as 1895 a jetty had been built to enable 
ships to berth and land their cargo and small amounts of 
bagged wheat and wool were being exported.

Mallee Grain Exports

From the 1920s, when the Mallee Region was opened for 
farming, the Port and the town’s population grew significantly 
to cater for the growth in the grain harvest. A rail link was 
connected between Esperance and Salmon Gums in 1925, 
and soon after was extended to Norseman. 

By the 1930s, the large ships berthing at the Town Jetty were 
running aground at low tide because of the shallow depth of 
the water. Diesel power had been introduced on the Goldfields 
and fuel storage facilities had been installed at Esperance to 
store fuel imported for the mines.

Work started on a second jetty – initially known as the Deep 
Water Wharf – in 1934 and this was completed in 1935. 
Unfortunately, the jetty was never suitable for handling the 
increased tonnages of grain and other products because 
of the ocean swell, its inability to handle bulk products, and 
again the problem of water depth for large, modern cargo 
carrying vessels.

Major Developments

Two major developments occurred that led to the 
development of land-backed berths in Esperance. First, 
research showed that with the application of trace elements 
and fertiliser the Esperance Coastal Plain could produce 
crops, which led to syndicates taking up large tracts of the 
plain; and second, Western Mining Corporation discovered 
nickel at Kambalda.

Esperance required land-backed berths capable of handling 
large volumes of bulk cargo and the ability to berth larger 
vessels. Work started on the first land-backed berth and 
the associated breakwater in 1962 and the first ship loaded 
grain at the berth in October 1965. At this time, Esperance 
Port was handling grain, salt, live sheep, fuel and fertiliser, 
and in 1967 Western Mining exported its first cargo of nickel 
concentrate from Esperance to Europe.

In 1972, berth two was completed, and in a major boost for 
the Port and Region, the Port was connected to the east west 
rail link, the only regional port in WA to have a standard gauge 
connection at that time.

Initially, vessels capable of loading up to 50,000 tonnes were 
limited to 30,000 tonnes of cargo at Esperance because of 
the depth of the water alongside the grain berth, and these 
ships had to go to Albany and Bunbury to top up – a time 
consuming and expensive exercise.

In 1988, the waters alongside the two land-backed berths 
were deepened from their initial 10.5 metres to 12.8 metres 
and in 2002 the depth was increased to 14.5 metres. Today, 
Panamax vessels capable of loading or discharging up to 
75,000 tonnes of cargo can berth at berths one and two 
simultaneously.

A Proud History

The original Town Jetty was only 150 metres long
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1990s Growth Boom

For the 25 years following the establishment of the land-
backed berths, Port growth stabilised with small annual 
increases in cargo volumes. However, the economic boom 
of the 1990s demanded significant new infrastructure at the 
Port.

First, new storage and handling facilities were built to deal 
with the increased tonnages of nickel concentrates. Then in 
1995, Portman Ltd started shipping iron ore out of Esperance 
to customers in Asia from its Koolyanobbing operations. To 
facilitate this export, the Port built a new bulk loading circuit 
including a rotary car dumper, conveyor systems, railway 
infrastructure and iron ore storage sheds to protect the town’s 
environment from red iron ore dust.

In 1999, grain exporter Cooperative Bulk Handling spent $68 
million upgrading its grain terminal, which included installing 
new silos, conveyors and loaders.

Then in 2000, Portman announced a significant increase 
in its iron ore exports that required a $54 million capital 
works program which included the construction of a third 
berth, the reclamation of 23 hectares of land, the building 
of two 300,000 tonne storage sheds, rail upgrades, and the 
installation of a new ship loader on the new berth. 

The water depth alongside the new berth at more than 19 
metres, made Esperance the deepest port in Southern 
Australia with the capacity to load cape-sized vessels to 
225,000 tonnes.

Ravensthorpe Nickel Mine

Other major exporters followed: In 2006 BHP Billiton started 
shipping nickel hydroxide in containers from its $2 billion 
Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations (RNO), and imported sulphur 
for its sulphuric acid plant. To facilitate this trade a $13 million 
dual-purpose gantry crane was purchased and located on 
berth two and a $19 million storage shed was built to store up 

to 120,000 tonnes of sulphur on site before transport to the 
mine site.

In 2006, Portman sold its iron ore operations to American 
company Cliffs Cleveland and the company immediately 
started to plan for increased exports. By 2012-13, Cliffs had 
ramped up their export capacity to 11.5 million tonnes a year.

BHP closed the Ravensthorpe Nickel mine in 2007 before 
selling the operations to Canadian company, First Quantum 
Minerals. FQM recommissioned the mine and resumed 
exporting nickel hydroxide in late 2011-12. The company 
exported 152,602 tonnes of product this year, and imported 
sulphur and magnesium oxide for its treatment plant.

Future Growth

In May 2014, the Yilgarn Esperance Solution (YES) consortium 
was named as the preferred proponent to finance, build and 
operate a new multi-user iron ore facility at the Port to meet 
the demands of the Yilgarn region. Negotiations between the 
consortium and Esperance Port were well advanced at the 
end of 2013-14 regarding finalising contractual arrangements 
for the project.

The proposed expansion will increase iron ore exports 
to about 21 million tonnes per annum and will require a 
significant upgrade of the Port’s existing iron ore infrastructure. 

The berth two gantry crane that was purchased principally for 
handling Ravensthorpe nickel operations products, provides 
the Port with the opportunity for additional container business. 
In 2009, the Port handled about 3000 containers. In the 2013-
14 financial year this figure was 26,186 exchanges.

Australian Plantation Log Exports (APLE) has been granted 
a license to trial the export of three shipments of bluegum 
woodchips. The shipments will vary between 10,000 and 
30,000 tonnes, and are expected to begin in late 2014. The 
Esperance Region has about 50,000 hectares of bluegum 
plantations.

Left: The Town Jetty extension – completed in 1898

Right: Grace Darling – a regular early visitor to Esperance Bay
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Project Management

EPSL’s assets have disparate lifecycles, maintenance and 
support schedules, as well as accounting treatments. A multi-
skilled work force supports this infrastructure. The same work 
force is also being called upon to create new and upgrade or 
retire existing assets. In the past, all capital works were carried 
out by the Port’s diverse divisions but without the benefit of an 
organisation-wide, consistent project management method 
to prioritise, plan and implement the works. This situation left 
EPSL exposed to project risks such as conflicting objectives, 
resource shortages, cost and schedule overruns and an 
inability to systematically prioritise our asset management 
activities. 

In October 2013, EPSL appointed a Program Manager 
to implement an organisation-wide Project Management 
Methodology (PMM), which included establishing a project 
selection and prioritisation process and a Project Steering 
Committee (PSC). A Project Management Office (PMO) was 
established to manage the PMM and PSC. This has delivered 
greater visibility of the works currently being undertaken, 
improved alignment between projects and business 
objectives, and established a more collaborative project 
environment, and a more robust capital budgeting process. 

The next step for the PMO is to be involved more in the 
organisation, specifically in the areas of risk and major 
investment. EPSL has nearly 50 projects scheduled in the 
2014-15 program, ranging from $10,000 to $10 million in 
value. The majority of the Port’s projects do not pose any 
financial risk. However, several of the capital projects have 
a higher risk profile and these will be closely managed to 
improve individual project performance to ensure delivery is on 
budget and on time. This will be achieved by establishing new 
project roles, responsibilities and accountabilities distinct from 
operational duties and a higher level of direct involvement in 
project planning and oversight from the PMO.

Ports Merger

At the year’s end, EPSL was well prepared for the proposed 
merger with the Albany and Bunbury Ports to form the 
Southern Ports Authority. Legislation has been introduced 
to State Parliament. A single Board will be appointed to 
replace the three existing Boards, with regional representation 
included on the new Board. The merged Ports will continue to 
have a locally-based port manager, and each Port will operate 
as a separate business unit.

The Southern Ports Authority will bring a new regional focus 
to each of the Port’s functions, including strategic and Port 
development, planning, policy and priority setting, financial 
planning and budget allocation. The streamlining of functions 
will enable each Port to respond to demands of growth, 
undertake broader responsibilities and meet the growing 
demand for new export infrastructure while continuing their 
primary role of facilitating trade. Benefits of the merger 
include the optimum use of existing Port facilities, improved 
investment decisions, greater private sector involvement and 
enhanced corporate governance.

Hughes Road Upgrade

Detailed design for the upgrading of the Port’s heavy vehicle 
access road continued during the financial year. The former 
main entrance was closed as part of the $120 million Port 
Access Corridor project and trucks can now only access the 
Port from Hughes Road. 

Hughes Road was not designed to be the Port’s primary 
road entry and will be upgraded to ensure that it is capable of 
safely handling the traffic volumes. The proposed upgrade will 
substantially rebuild the road to acceptable standards, and is 
expected to be undertaken early in 2015.

Planning for the Future

$120 million Harbour Road upgrade connects to Hughes Road 
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Berth Fender Refurbishment and 
Upgrade

During the year significant refurbishment was undertaken 
on the steelwork that supports the fenders on berths one 
and two. The corroded steelwork was blasted and painted 
by a local contractor. The refurbishment work on berth two 
was completed during the financial year and 75 percent of 
refurbishment work completed on berth one.

The original fender system on berth one had been designed 
for smaller ships of about 25,000 deadweight tonnes, and not 
the large grain vessels of up to 80,000 deadweight tonnes 
that now regularly visit the Port.  To safely accommodate 
these larger vessels, sections of the berth one fender system 
have been redesigned and will be upgraded during 2014-15. 

Storm Water Management Plan 

Engineering consultants, GHD, were engaged to carry out a 
study and to develop a sustainable Storm Water Management 
Plan for the Port’s unpaved roads and container hardstand 
areas, and to manage the runoff from Dempster Head which 
inundates the Port during storms. The study incorporated 
a review of the capacities of existing infiltration pits and 
trenches. 

The Plan which aims to reduce, if not eliminate flooding in 
the Port recommends the introduction of more rainwater 
tanks within the Port boundaries to reduce the effect of heavy 
downpours which usually cause flooding. The water collected 
at these tanks can be used for dust management inside the 
iron ore storage sheds, which will reduce the use of scheme 
water and the Port’s water bill. 

The draft Storm Water Management Plan has been received 
and over the following financial year the Port will implement 
the proposed works in stages.

Berth Two Efficiency  

Berth two is the Port’s only multi-purpose berth and has 
the highest occupancy. The Port commissioned a study to 
explore opportunities for improving operational efficiency and 
reduce berth congestion. The study was jointly prepared by 
two consultants, Ports WA studied operational activities of 
the berth, and Estills Associates looked at logistics related 
aspects.

The Study provided a number of recommendations for 
improvements. During 2014-15, EPSL will review the Study to 
identify future actions that may be pursued.

Berth Three Structural Review 

Recent investigations have shown the berth three wharf 
structure requires structural modifications to provide improved 
residual capacity. EPSL engaged engineering consultants, 
AECOM, to study the structural and fatigue capacity of the 
wharf.

AECOM has prepared options for remedial strengthening of 
the structure which are currently being reviewed by EPSL 
and consultant structural engineers. Modifications will be 
scheduled once the scope of works has been finalised and 
contract requirements met.

Ventilation Upgrade

Consultants will be engaged early in the new financial year 
to review the ventilation system installed in the Port’s four 
iron ore storage sheds. They will prepare a report that 
provides base-line parameters for upgrading the system to 
enable larger loaders to be used during iron ore outloading 
operations. They will also recommend the size of the loaders. 
Tenders for the supply of the new loaders will be called after 
the ventilation report has been considered by EPSL.

Fender system on berth one to be upgraded to cater for larger vessels 
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Corporate Governance

Role of Board

The role of the Esperance Ports Sea and Land (EPSL) Board 
is to perform the functions, determine the policies and 
control the affairs of the Esperance Port Authority, trading as 
Esperance Ports Sea and Land.  These include developing 
strategic business plans, monitoring management’s 
performance in implementing plans, and reviewing the Port’s 
investment philosophies and strategies.  The Board appoints 
the Chief Executive Officer and reviews performance and 
remuneration.  It also ensures regulatory and ethical standards 
are met and risks are appropriately managed.

Board Composition

Esperance Ports Sea and Land consists of a Board of 
Directors comprising five (5) people appointed by the Minister 
for Transport.  In appointing a person as Director, the Minister 
must have due regard to all relevant guidelines published, 
approved, endorsed or administered by the Minister for Public 
Sector Management.  A member of staff is not eligible to be 
appointed as a Director.  A Director may hold office for up to 
three years, and is eligible for re-appointment.

Directors’ Rights

Directors have access to independent legal or financial advice 
as an approved Port expense, and access to Esperance Ports 
Sea and Land records for a period of up to seven years upon 
retirement from the Board.  In addition, they have Directors’ 
and Officers’ Liability Insurance cover.

Codes of Conduct

Section 21 of the Port Authorities Act 1999 requires EPSL to 
operate under Codes of Conduct appropriate to the business. 
The Public Sector Commissioner completed a review of 
the Port’s existing Codes of Conduct during the year and 
confirmed that they align with the principles set out in Section 
9 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

The EPSL Board has provided the Minister for Transport and 
the Public Sector Commissioner a report on how Esperance 
Port employees practice the current Codes of Conduct as 
required by Section 23 of the Port Authorities Act 1999.

Legislation 

The activities of the Esperance Ports Sea and Land are 
governed by the Port Authorities Act 1999.  The Act has 
modernised Port Authority legislation and provides a clear 
trade facilitation role for Western Australian Port Authorities, 
with a commercial focus on operations.  Under the Act, Port 
Authorities are established as commercialised entities and are 
governed by Boards of Directors appointed by the Minister.

Esperance Ports Sea and Land operates under established 
principles and carries out its business in the best interests of 
all stakeholders.

Risk Management

EPSL recognises that risk management is an integral part of 
good management practice and has committed to managing 
risk in accordance with the Australian/New Zealand Risk 
Management Standard ISO 31000:2009.

During the year a revised Risk Management and Business 
Continuity Management Policy was approved by the EPSL 
Board. The Port utilises external expertise in this area to assist 
with both Risk Management and Business Continuity Planning 
following an audit by the Office of the Auditor General in 2012, 
which highlighted areas requiring improvement. 

The monitoring of Operational, Strategic and Governance 
risks is being guided by the recommendations of the Public 
Sector Commissioner and is maturing. The Port will continue 
to utilise the Riskbase Database provided by RiskCover to 
assist to identify, rank and implement controls for Risks where 
practical to do so. Another major initiative during the year was 
the successful rollout of the Complispace Assurance program 
which enables the Port to more effectively manage legislative 
compliance.

External Audit

The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) has contracted 
out the annual external audit of the Port’s function to Grant 
Thornton Australia Limited.  In accordance with the Port 
Authorities Act 1999, Esperance Ports Sea and Land is 
required to submit an audited Annual Report on its most 
recently completed financial year to the Minister within ten (10) 
days of the receipt of the first audit opinion from the OAG on 
the financial accounts of the Port.

Internal Audit

The Audit and Risk Committee met regularly during the year 
to review financial performance, discuss internal audit findings 
and to proactively monitor and review identified risks. The 
Port’s internal auditor - Protiviti - continued to perform testing 
in accordance with the internal audit plan with particular 
focus this year on internal controls in the areas of accounts 
receivable and accounts payable. Findings and improvement 
recommendations were reported to management and 
the Audit and Risk Committee and have been actioned 
accordingly.
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Regulatory Requirements

Electoral Act 1907

Section 175Ze of the Electoral Act 1907 requires Esperance 
Ports Sea and Land to include a statement in its annual 
report detailing expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the 
Agency during the current reporting period over the classes of 
expenditure set out below.

Class of 
Expenditure

Organisation/
company

Total 
Expenditure 
2013-14

Advertising 
agencies

Nil

Market research 
agencies

Nil

Polling 
organisations

Nil

Direct mailing 
agencies

Nil

Media, for 
advertising

Western Australian 
Newspapers 

Adcorp Australia

Esperance Holdings

$452 

$7443

$2454

Record Keeping

EPSL recognises the importance of proper record keeping 
practices. The State Record Office approved EPSL’s Record 
Keeping Plan on 27 September 2012 for a further five years.

During the year an improvement plan was developed following 
an independent expert review of current practices that 
identified a number of opportunities to improve our system 
and these are being implemented.

A new Business Classification Scheme was also developed 
and will be rolled out as part of the planned Southern Port 
Authority merger of the Esperance, Albany and Bunbury 
Ports. This will lead to better record keeping practices 
between sites.

EPSL is currently in the process of appointing a Records 
Management Co-coordinator who will be responsible for the 
efficiency and effectiveness of our Record Keeping Plan.

Disability Services Plan

Esperance Ports Sea and Land has a Disability Services Plan 
in place and all aspects of the plan are operational. Periodic 
reviews take place to ensure it complies with both State and 
Federal Government disability legislation.

Freedom of Information

Under the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 1992, 
EPSL is required to provide the Office of the Information 
Commissioner with a Freedom of Information Statement every 
12 months.

EPSL received no Freedom of Information requests during the 
2013-14 financial year.

Loading grain on berth one 

9



Operations

Esperance Port Sea and Land (EPSL) handled a record 
14.938 million tonnes of cargo during the 2013-14 financial 
year, a rise of 7.6 percent on the previous year’s record of 
13.875 million tonnes. This volume growth, along with a one-
off contract settlement, resulted in the Port’s revenue for the 
year increasing by 19 percent from $69.225 million last year to 
a record $82.592 million this year.

Trade Performance

The exceptional grain harvest in the Esperance agricultural 
zone in 2013-14 was the catalyst for record cargo handling 
figures for the year, although iron ore exports continued to 
dominate the total trade figures.

2.53 million tonnes of grain was exported through Esperance 
during the year, up from 1.69 million tonnes the previous year, 
which was about the annual average for the past decade.

Wheat exports led the way rising from 728,213 tonnes last 
year to more than 1.3 million tonnes, an increase of 78 
percent, while barley shipments rose by 76 percent up from 
485,115 tonnes last year to 854,044 tonnes. There was a 
slight decline in canola exports and the lupin crop was halved.

Iron ore exports rose slightly, from 11.04 million tonnes in 
2013 to 11.28 million tonnes, while nickel concentrates and 
nickel hydroxide shipments were lower, reflecting the lower 
demand and price for the commodity on world markets during 
the year.

Total exports rose to more than 14.09 million tonnes, an 
increase of about eight percent over the previous year’s total 
of 13.03 million tonnes, while total imports fell by just under 
2000 tonnes, from 841,071 tonnes in 2013 to 839,170 tonnes 
this year.

Petroleum imports were down from 308,599 tonnes to 
292,134 tonnes and fertiliser from 94,090 tonnes to 86,570 
tonnes. Small increases were recorded in sulphur imports 
- from 367,591 tonnes to 381,761 tonnes - and magnesia 
oxide, from 26,998 tonnes to 34,352 tonnes.

Sulphur and magnesia oxide are used at the Ravensthorpe 
Nickel Mine to extract the nickel from the lateritic ores, and 
despite the import increases, First Quantum Minerals exports 
of nickel hydroxide fell to 152,602 tonnes from 168,597 
tonnes the previous year.

Total container exchanges were also down from the record 
32,721 last year to 26,185, coinciding with the fall in nickel 
exports.

Operations

Imports-Exports, Year Ended 30 June 2014

CARGO (Tonnes) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Imports
Container Tonnes Empty 25,483 35,851 33,233 16,674 9,356
Petroleum 292,135 308,559 350,814 309,997 304,590
Fertilisers 86,571 94,090 71,927 87,281 57,775
Sulphur 381,761 367,591 294,494 - -
Magnesia Oxide 34,353 26,998 17,604 - -
Sundry 8,721 7,982 239 11 -
TOTAL IMPORTS 829,024 841,071 768,311 413,963 371,721
TEU’s IN 12,502 16,290 14,210 6,255 3,395

Exports
Container Tonnes Empty 7,727 2,092 3,353 33 -
Iron Ore 11,288,529 11,045,649 8,904,585 8,807,994 9,211,331
Nickel 92,653 216,422 299,987 290,647 323,684
Lead - - - - -
Barley 854,045 485,115 640,211 317,360 611,210
Wheat 1,301,415 728,213 798,880 945,576 428,683
Sulphur - - - - 22,042
Lupins 4,950 9,216 - 12,792 19,205
Peas - 14,161 32,817 36,268 31,546
Canola 374,577 363,828 220,486 295,669 247,565
Nickel Hydroxide 152,602 168,597 82,409 - -
Gold Pyrite 22,824 - - - -
Scrap Metal 10,147 - - - -
Sundry 462 680 128 - -
TOTAL EXPORTS 14,109,931 13,033,973 10,982,856 10,706,339 10,895,266
TEU’s OUT 13,684 16,431 12,944 7,930 2,085
TOTAL TRADE 14,938,955 13,875,044 11,751,167 11,120,302 11,266,987

GROSS TONNAGE 9,835,814 9,106,096 8,136,887 7,571,504 7,886,877
NO. OF VESSELS 203 196 210 184 205
NO. OF TRADE VESSELS 197 192 204 181 202
TOTAL TEU’S 26,186 32,721 27,154 14,185 5,480
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Shipping

One hundred and ninety-seven trading vessels berthed in 
Esperance during the year, up from the previous year’s total 
of 192, but short of the record 204 visits recorded in 2011-
12. The gross tonnages of visiting vessels continues to rise 
indicating the large increase in the number of cape size 
vessels arriving to load iron ore for Asian markets, as well as 
larger container and grain carrying ships arriving in Esperance.

During 2013-14, the gross tonnage recorded was 9.835 
million tonnes, an increase of eight percent over the previous 
year’s record of 9.106 million tonnes.

Of the total, 69 vessels exported 11.289 million tonnes 
of iron ore, a record for the Port; 68 carried a record 2.53 
million tonnes of grain; 24 exchanged 26,186 containers; 
eight discharged 381,761 tonnes of sulphur; 15 unloaded 
86,571 tonnes of fertilizer; 11 discharged 292,135 tonnes of 
petroleum; and two vessels removed 10,147 tonnes of scrap 
metal.

Two of the grain carriers were the new Post Panamax sized 
vessels. The CMB Medoc loaded the largest grain shipment 
to be exported from Western Australia in February 2014. She 
sailed with 78,636 tonnes of feed barley worth more than 
$20 million for Saudi Arabia. The previous record was set in 
1979 when 78,507 tonnes of wheat left Kwinana aboard the 
MV Bjorgholm. In October, 2013, the Minoan Falcon, another 
of the new Post Panamax class vessels left Esperance with 
77,000 tonnes of feed barley, the largest barley shipment to 
leave the State at that time.

The MV Saiko was the largest vessel loaded during the 2013-
14 financial year. She sailed with a cargo of 175,449 tonnes of 
iron ore. The largest gross registered tonnage vessel to berth 
during the year was the MV Golden Opus. She had a GRT of 
95,047 tonnes.

Cruise Ships

During the year, six cruise ships visited Esperance, only 
one of which berthed at the Port. The others laid anchor in 
the Esperance Bay and ferried their passengers to shore. 
Although these vessels do no contribute significantly to the 
Port’s revenue, cruise ships make a positive contribution to 
the local tourism industry and are welcomed by the local 
business community.

Navigation Aids

During 2013-14, EPSL completed its program of replacing 
failing navigation aids. This included the re-aligning of the 
channel leads to mark the centre of the navigation channel.  
The tanker jetty light was replaced by a Sarus tower and the 
structure supporting the old light will be removed.

Pilotage

EPSL continues to have three personnel capable of piloting all 
vessels visiting the port. The Harbour Master, Deputy Harbour 
Master and Assistant Harbour Master all hold unrestricted 
Pilots Licences and attend to pilotage duties.

Pilot launch skipper Bryce Cooper at the helm of the Kwillina 
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Security Improvements

EPSL continued to upgrade existing infrastructure and 
implement its security initiatives during the year. This included 
installing radio/wifi CCTV cameras which enable the remote 
monitoring of all gangways and ship’s mooring lines.

Pilot Transfers

EPSL took delivery of a new pilot vessel in May 2014.  The 
vessel, named “Kwillina”, meaning “Gliding Dolphin” in the 
Traditional Language of the Nyoongar People, has been 
performing marine pilot transfers.  The vessel is self-righting 
and is capable of performing search and rescue functions.

Oil Response Training

EPSL continued its commitment to Oil Spill response 
preparedness by conducting training and exercises for 
employees and external participants. A dedicated Oil Spill 
Response trailer has been acquired to enable first-strike 
equipment to be rapidly transported to where required in the 
event of an oil spill incident.

Mooring Augmentation

EPSL installed a shore tension mooring augmentation system 
on berths one and two during the year. The system greatly 
enhances the safety of vessels alongside the berths when 
long period waves penetrate the harbour by reducing the 
incidents of mooring line failures. They also significantly 
improve container handling rates by damping the rolling of 
container vessels during cargo handling operations. The 
system also improves the safety of Port personnel working on 
these berths.

Stevedoring

Sulphur Vessels’ Discharge Rates 

Sulphur vessel discharge rates have improved by about 20 
percent during the year. This improvement can be attributed 
to a number of factors including enhanced crane reliability, 
increased experience and skills of crane operators and 
improved flexibility in the allocation of skilled operators. 
These factors have been targeted in the Port’s Continuous 
Improvement initiatives over the past two years.

The enhanced performance was assisted by the improved 
quality of the sulphur arriving at the Port that had handling 
characteristics conducive to achieving higher handling rates.

Container Operations 

During the year the Port’s average gross container exchange 
rates improved by 10 percent. This resulted from improved 
allocation of labour capabilities by employing a more flexible 
labour group. Less delays and operational stoppages now 
occur because of shortages in the fixed labour pool.

Achieving better rates has also been assisted by the Port’s 
clients chartering larger, more efficient container vessels that 
allow twin-lifting of containers (the handling of four half height 
containers in one lift). Again, the Continuous Improvement 
initiatives have focused on raising our container crane rates 
through training, improved skills and operator availability.

The redevelopment of the former Black Swan nickel storage 
shed site as an export container consolidation area has 
benefitted stevedoring operations. Up to 500 containers can 
now be stored close to berth two which has significantly 
reduced trucking distances.  The concrete hardstand provides 
for all weather operations and safety has been enhanced by 
installing better site lighting, segregating the container areas 
from other work areas and improving road traffic conditions.

Stevedores tying up a vessel  

alongside berth one 

Operations Continued
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New Plant and Equipment

Recent investments in an excavator, skid steer loaders and 
an additional sulphur grab have provided better reliability 
and serviceability in our cargo handling operations. This has 
positively impacted performance by reducing downtime, and 
providing better operator comfort and improved safety.

The purchase of the excavator has reduced reliance on the 
availability of a hire machine, and is cost effective as transport 
and hire costs have been eliminated. 

The purchase of a second grab for sulphur discharge 
operations has enabled discharge targets to be achieved. 
In the past operations have had to stop to undertake 
unscheduled wire rope changes or maintenance work that 
resulted in extended periods of downtime. The second grab 
substantially reduces idle time and produced savings from a 
payback period of about one year.

Scrap Metal Exports

During the year the Esperance Port handled two export 
shipments of scrap metal. The loading was managed by 
stevedoring company, Qube, using both Qube and EPSL 
labour. While the first scrap metal export was slow to 
load, improved logistics with the second vessel resulted in 
substantially higher load rates. This loading operation has 
proven the feasibility of using the Port for scrap metal exports.

Maintenance

Maintenance Management System

A new maintenance system, incorporating a revised 
shutdown management structure, went live in March 2014. 
This new system features revised work management 
practises, such as monitoring equipment condition to identify 
required corrective works rather than have this work set on a 
time-based change out schedule.

This required a cultural shift in attitudes towards adopting a 
different way of planning and carrying out maintenance. The 
new system has also focussed on gaining efficiencies by 
linking maintenance tasks into a logical sequence to reduce 
traveling time between the various locations of each task. 

Underlying the new maintenance approach is the improved 
communication with our clients and the development of 
maintenance shutdown schedules that reduce the impact on 
our clients without any additional burden to the Port.

Safety Management

Cultural safety management initiatives were pursued for the 
Maintenance Section during the year with emphasis on the 
management of supervisory staff and their ability to meet 
OHS targets on Take 5s, toolbox meetings, incident reporting 
and corrective actions.

A safety KPI system was established in April 2014 to track 
Take 5s within the maintenance team. The target was set 
at one Take 5 per person each working day. After the first 
monthly review it was decided that the KPI target was not 
indicative of the workload and potential risks. The target was 
then lifted to two per person each day.

JHA registers have been completed for both the Electrical 
and Mechanical Departments. This tool allows the workforce 
to utilise or reference past JHA’s on routine tasks and sharing 
information with the current work team.

A more effective structure has been adopted for conducting 
toolbox meetings. They provide the opportunity for 
maintenance personnel to contribute and promote greater 
collaboration in all safety initiatives that are being developed 
and implemented in the workplace.

Mackenzie Marine’s new tug boat, Hellfire Bay
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Environmental

Compliance

Environmental compliance with relevant Federal and State 
government legislation continued to be achieved during the 
2013-14 financial year. Improvements continue to be built 
into the Port’s environmental management system to further 
enhance the Port’s environmental performance.

The Port’s emissions had negligible impacts during the year 
as indicated by results recovered from dust, stormwater, 
treated wastewaters, marine sediments and noise monitoring.  
Results of monitoring are posted on the EPSL website: 
www.epsl.com.au

Major Achievements

Major Environmental Department’s achievements in 2013-14 
included the removal and treatment of more than 50 cubic 
metres of contaminated solids collected from the stormwater 
drains during the demolition of the Black Swan Shed, and the 
removal of 17,000 cubic metres of contaminated sediments 
from the three berth pockets during the recent dredging 
program. These projects were conducted without any 
significant environmental incidents and in compliance with 
environmental laws. 

The removal of the contaminated sediments is expected to 
clean-up the berth pocket sediments, and the Port does not 
expect to have to deal with this problem again since future 
mineral concentrates are likely to be handled in containers and 
marine law requires all anti-fouling paints on trading vessels 

to use less toxic chemicals. The sediments recovered from 
the berth pockets are resident within the Port boundary and 
will be capped with a metre of clean material. The proposed 
construction of new iron ore sheds will eventually be built on 
top of the reclaim.

Dust Management

The future is also looking clearer in relation to iron ore 
dust. The iron ore cargo handling contract allows moisture 
controls to be introduced and references the requirements 
of the Port’s environmental licence. EPSL is working with the 
Department of Environmental Regulation to strengthen the 
legal requirements of moisture in iron ore leaving the mine site 
so that it creates minimal dust while being handled at the Port. 

To track moisture levels at the Port, a reliable moisture meter 
has been commissioned on the iron ore inloading circuit and 
another is being considered for the outloading circuit. This will 
provide information about the moisture levels in the iron ore 
being received, and what extra actions need to be taken to 
eliminate dust from the iron ore circuit.

If the product is dry, this will activate a foaming system, 
which will be trialled early in the new financial year. A dust 
assessment will be conducted to determine if this provides 
a more effective means of conditioning the product and 
reducing the dust levels than the existing water sprays that 
often cause flooding. If the moisture is acceptable, but dust is 
airborne in the conveyor galleries, finer water sprays will also 
be trialled to suppress this dust. Depending on the success 
of these trials, further consideration will be given to installing a 
fogging system on the shiploader.

Operations Continued

Esperance Port and Department of Fisheries 

and Transport personnel checking traps for 

introduced marine species 

14



Marine Pests

As Esperance Port’s trade grows and more ships visit our 
waters from different locations around the world, exposure 
to marine pests carried in ballast water or on hulls increases. 
Esperance Port has taken the initiative to participate in an 
early warning system being developed by the WA Department 
of Fisheries.

The system is being run at the Ports of Dampier, Port Hedland 
and Fremantle, with Esperance signing up and Albany Port 
reportedly soon to follow. The early warning system currently 
includes the use of both settlement trays and ‘opera house’ 
crab traps to provide homes for potential pest species. The 
equipment was deployed in late October 2013 at berths one 
and three within the Port, at the Taylor Street Jetty and Bandy 
Creek Boat Harbour.

Early detection of marine pests is critical to the success of any 
eradication program. This program is voluntary and supports 
the Port’s role in proactively managing risks to the unique 
marine environment of the Recherché Archipelago. So far the 
program has already identified one pest species, an unwanted 
sea squirt. The species, identified as Didemnum perlucidum, 
attaches itself to the hulls of trading vessels in the tropics and 
infests other ports by the sea squirt breaking off parts of itself.

Fisheries advises that controls for this species are not 
possible, but it is expected to die back in the cooler months 
and is not expected to be a dominant member of our local 
marine ecosystems and damage local fisheries, unlike the 
Pacific Seastars that have infested seabeds of eastern 
Australia, particularly Port Phillip Bay.

Looking Ahead

Looking ahead, the key actions being planned in 2015 
include: 

•	 Work	with	the	Department	of	Environmental	Regulation	
(DER) to reduce iron ore and grain dust emissions; 

•	 Complete	actions	to	reduce	iron	ore	dust	including	
a foaming trial, and improved enclosure of conveyor 
structures; 

•	 Complete	a	beach	discolouration	study	to	provide	a	
baseline of colour on the local beaches and how the 
colour responds to iron ore deposition;

•	 Complete	a	contaminated	sites	audit	of	the	Port	
according to DER requirements; 

•	 Continue	working	with	new	clients	toward	approvals	for	
handling new products including using a Rotabox type 
system for mineral concentrates and the bulk export of 
woodchips;

•	 Investigate	use	of	a	spill	trailer	to	contain	leaks	from	
containers of overly wet concentrates or liquid products;

•	 Develop	plans	to	bituminise	the	Port’s	unsealed	
roads, and implement stormwater controls to reduce 
emissions of both dust and dirty stormwater; and

•	 Review	and	adopt	any	improvements	from	the	
Environmental Management Systems of our sister Ports 
in Albany and Bunbury following the merger to form the 
Southern Ports Authority.

Dredge vessel, the River Bee 

working in Port waters
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Outcome

To provide efficient and reliable services that meet the needs 
of Port users.

Effectiveness

Time at berth

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

65.0 Hours 65.9 70.7 65.3 54.0

This is the average period of time from the first line ashore to 
the last line off when departing from the Port. The lower this 
figure the faster vessels are loaded and the more effective 
is the use of wharf space. The improvement in 2013-14 is 
primarily due to advances in the discharge of sulphur and 
containers.

Total time

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

85.0 Hours 119.0 116.9 133.4 77.9

This is the average time elapsed from the arrival of a ship at 
the Port boundary to departure from the Port. This indicator 
has declined marginally with the clearance of the record 2013-
14 grain harvest being a contributing factor.

Efficiency

Cargo handled per time in Port

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

650.0 Tonnes 634.0 581.8 431.7 788.2

This is the average cargo handled for total time from Port 
arrival to departure. The increase reflects improved operational 
efficiency on berth two and clearance of the record 2013-14 
grain harvest in preparation for the upcoming season.

Cargo handled per hour at berth

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

1100.0 Tonnes 1144.3 1022.2 882.1 1136.8

This is the average cargo handled per ship hour at berth. 
The higher this figure the more productive are cargo handling 
operations. Continued gains in berth two operational efficiency 
and increased grain volumes have driven this improvement.

Performance Indicators

Dust management: mobile vacuum vehicle 
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Outcome

To provide and maintain port facilities such as wharves and 
associated infrastructure that will meet user needs.

Effectiveness

Berth occupancy

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

50.0 Percent 49.7 51.7 50.7 37.2

Average berth occupancy measures the time ships are 
actually along side the berth as a percentage of the total 
time available. Time alongside decreased marginally due to 
a combination of efficiency gains on berth two and a trend 
towards larger vessels being used on berth one.

Time awaiting berth

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

25.0 Hours 53.0 53.5 68.1 23.9

Is the time from arrival at the Port boundary to the first line 
ashore. This is an indicator of berth congestion which has 
been relatively constant for the past two years. Other factors 
causing ships to wait at anchor can include, waiting for letters 
of credit for cargo and ships not choosing to work.

Average ship alongside time

Cargo 2014 2013 2012 2011

Petroleum 50.6 53.7 35.8 31.4 Hours

Fertiliser 56.3 51.3 58.9 58.3  Hours

Grain 57.3 53.8 49.7 49.8  Hours

Iron Ore 69.7 72.5 70.5 67.1  Hours

Sulphur 134.6 189.3 198.2 00.0 Hours

Containers 71.5 79.1 68.5 50.5 Hours

The period of time alongside for each of the cargoes is 
dependent on the nature of the cargo, cargo size, vessel 
size and equipment to load or discharge the cargo and in 
some instances whether the vessel needs to be fumigated or 
cleaned out to load grain. The lower these figures the more 
effective are cargo handling operations.

Efficiency

Total expenditure per tonne of cargo

This is all expenditure items divided by the total trade.

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

$4.00 $5.07 $4.75 $4.81 $3.82

An increase in this number equates to more expenditure per 
tonne of cargo. 2012–2014 include significant impairment 
charges.

Total costs per ship visit

This is the total expenditure divided by the number of ship 
calls.

Target 2014 2013 2012 2011

$340,000 $382,881 $343,523 $277,221 $234,541

An increase in this figure indicates either increased 
expenditure or reduced vessel visits. 2012-2014 include 
significant impairment charges.

Outcome

To promote the development of trade through the Port.

Effectiveness

Total trade comparison

 
Year

 
Volume-Tonnes

% change on 
previous year

2014 14,938,955 +7.7%

2013 13,875,044 +18.1%

2012 11,751,167 +5.7%

2011 11,120,302 -1.3%

2010 11,266,319 +13.2%

2009 9,948,846 +0.2%

2008 9,930,283 -0.2%

2007 9,949,729 +19.7%

2006 8,309,163 +6.9%

2005 7,774,123 +6.5%

2004 7,297,131 +21.4%

Containers

Year TEU’s In TEU’s Out Total

2014 12,502 13,684 26,186

2013 16,290 16,431 32,721

2012 14,210 12,944 27,154

2011 6,255 7,930 14,185

2010 3,395 2,085 5,480

2009 1,565 1,445 3,010

2008 1,607 2,071 3,678

Safety Indicator

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Number of significant 
incidents

nil 2 2 1 nil

No significant incident were recorded during the year. 
Significant incidents are defined as those causing damage 
in excess of $60,000 to the Port’s assets or personal injury 
requiring hospitalisation or fatal accidents.
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Business Arising 

Sirius Resources 

Sirius Resources and EPSL progressed negotiations for a Port 
Access Agreement during 2013-14 with this agreement and 
terms expected to be finalised in the second half of 2014. 
EPSL currently anticipates that the Sirius Resources Nickel 
concentrate may be suitable for export in bulk via rotainer 
technology, which is currently being successfully used for the 
export of similar bulk nickel concentrates from other ports.

Esperance Port is currently working with the Department of 
Environment to ensure that all operational requirements for the 
use of a rotainer system comply with the Port’s environmental 
obligations and license conditions.

Blue Gum Logs

During 2013-14, Australian Plantation Log Exports (APLE), 
a company that has interests in east coast blue gum 
plantations, was granted a license for an initial export trial 
of up to three woodchip shipments from Esperance over 
a period of 12 months.  EPSL currently expects the first 
APLE shipment of woodchips to be exported in or around 
November 2014. Chipping operations on privately held land 
started in June 2014 and economic benefits of this new trade 
has now started to flow to the local economy. 

EPSL remains in negotiations with other private companies 
who have also applied for licenses in 2013-14 to export 
plantation products through the Esperance Port. These 
companies may also be issued with licenses to export 
woodchips in the near future. This will allow local forestry 
product producers to have a number of pathways to market. 

Fuel Ships

During the year under review, EPSL executed an agreement 
with the Shell Company of Australia Ltd to install a new fuel 
pipeline on berth one.  This new line will supplement the 
existing fuel line facility on berth two and reduce shipping 
congestion on that berth.  The berth two fuel line will be kept 
in operation for use when berth one is unavailable.  

The Port and Shell are nearing agreement on the design of 
the pipeline, after which these works will be tendered and 
installation is expected to commence shortly afterwards.

Multi User Iron Ore Export Facility

During 2013-14, EPSL focused on a rigorous process for 
the selection of a preferred proponent to build, operate 
and finance a new Multi User Iron Ore export facility at the 
Esperance Port. 

In March 2014, the Minister for Transport announced that 
the Yilgarn Esperance Solutions (YES) consortium had 
been selected as the preferred proponent from more than 
50 original applicants. EPSL and the consortium are now 
progressing contractual close negotiations for the terms and 
framework that will govern the operation of the proposed 
facility over the next 20 years. 

EPSL is keen to see this project succeed as it will result in the 
building of key regional export infrastructure that is critical to 
the proposed commencement of operations for a number of 
Yilgarn iron ore miners.

Business Development

New sulphur grab 
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Existing Clients

Cliffs

Cliffs Natural Resources (CNR) remains EPSL’s largest client, 
with the company exporting in excess of 11.288 million 
tonnes of iron ore through the Port last financial year, and 
more than 100 million tonnes over the past decade.  

CNR and EPSL completed negotiations for a new export 
Port Access Agreement in 2013-14 that provides economic 
certainty for both parties that facilitates future exports through 
the Port.

First Quantum Minerals

Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations (RNO) continues to perform 
strongly since Canadian company First Quantum Minerals 
(FQM) resumed production at the mine in 2011. Since then 
RNO has been one of the standout performers in the Western 
Australia’s nickel industry. 2013-14 production was 38,103 
tonnes of nickel, which equates to approximately 152,000 
tonnes of their mixed hydroxide precipitate product which was 
exported from Esperance in containers during the financial 
year. 

Production for 2014-15 is forecast at 36,000 to 37,000 
tonnes of nickel. EPSL and FQM are continuing negotiations 
to enter into a Port Access Agreement that provides long-term 
mutual benefit to both parties.

Pricing

General Port Charges 

EPSL did not increase prices during 2013-14 but is expected 
that a price increase will be required in the second half of 
calendar 2014 to recover the Port’s exposure to general 
inflationary cost increases.

Return on assets

In 2013-14, EPSL received a new Ministerial directive with 
respect to the targeted long-term rate of return on its asset 

base. Esperance Port is currently reviewing the overall 
structure of its pricing to ensure that the Port’s weighted 
average cost of capital of 10.3 percent is achievable in the 
long term.

Information Technology

EPSL implemented major IT changes during the past 12 
months, with the main focus being around activities related 
to the merger of the Esperance, Albany and Bunbury ports to 
form the Southern Ports Authority, and also Disaster Recovery 
Systems for the Esperance Port.

Esperance Port has implemented a new fibre optic network 
that provides a secure data link to the Albany and Bunbury 
ports. As of 30 June, 2014, this link facilitates the use of 
shared services between the ports, several of which are 
already running and available in areas such as finance, 
security and communications.

During the year, Esperance Port’s Disaster Recovery  
Plan reached maturity with duplicate server rooms being 
established and a separate disaster recovery area being 
implemented. The Port now has the resources to recover its IT 
Systems quite rapidly in the event of a disaster, a system that 
will be tested and improved in the future.

Major projects undertaken during the 2013-14 financial year 
included:

•	 New	IT	disaster	recovery	area	built	to	complete	the	
Port’s Disaster Recovery Plan;

•	 New	Fibre	optic	line-in	installed,	existing	fibre	optic	
backbone upgraded to 10 GBps, and new switches 
and network security rolled-out;

•	 New	Voice	over	IP	telephone	system	introduced;

•	 Telstra	4G	devices	integrated	into	computer	network;

•	 Three-way	Video	Conferencing	between	Esperance,	
Albany and Bunbury ports implemented; and

•	 Remote	access	and	internet	services	improved.

Empty iron ore rail wagons leaving the Port 
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Human Resources

Employee Numbers

EPSL employee numbers fell by one, from 149 to 148 during 
2013-14 financial year.

Full Time Staff 135

Part Time Staff 13

FTE 142

Women 25

Men 123

Youth (under 25) 11

Mature (over 45) 71

Training Program

As the volume of cargo handled by EPSL increased, a 
broader base of skills was required by the Operational 
Department to handle a more diversified cargo. To meet this 
labour requirement and skill set, Esperance Port undertook 
an extensive training and assessment program to ensure 
employees could not only do their job, but also to do it safely.

During the 2013-14 financial year, more than 8789 hours of 
training was completed, an increase of about 160 percent 
in two years. This year’s total included 7245 hours provided 
by external trainers and more than 1500 hours internally, 
significant increases in both areas.

Some training is mandatory, such as inductions that introduce 
new employees to the Port’s rules, regulations and culture. 
Other training, like manual handling courses teach personnel 
how to lift and hold equipment safely, fatigue management 
courses enable employees to determine when they are fit to 
work or when it is time to go home, and courses on identifying 
and using the correct personal protective equipment (PPE) for 
the particular job they may be doing is also mandatory.

Members of the Port’s emergency response team undertook 
specialised training for rescues in confined spaces and 
heights, employees working over or near water took part in an 
Elements of Shipboard Safety course, and relevant personnel 
participated in incident investigation and oil spill response 
training.

As the business grows, specialists are required in certain 
areas, for example, to operate the gantry crane that handles 
the increasing number of containers that arrive and depart the 
Port and discharge bulk sulphur for the Ravensthorpe Nickel 
Mine. In late 2007, the Port did not have a single employee 
who could operate the crane; today, 15 members of the 
Port’s four operational teams have been trained to handle this 
sophisticated equipment.

Operators of high risk equipment, such as forklifts and 
loaders, and those responsible for dogging operations have to 
revalidate their tickets every five years. Ninety percent of the 
Port’s employees have a current first aid certificate that needs 
updating every three years.

Human Resources & OHS

Fire training for Port personnel 
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Along with training, assessment of skills is ongoing 
throughout the year and in 2014 included train supervisor, 
hatchman, sampling, heavy forklift, risk management, incident 
investigation, emergency response, and oil spill response 
assessment.

No EPSL employee is exempt from training that improves their 
personal safety, the safety of their colleagues, and the learning 
or upgrading of skills to meet the increasing industry demands 
on our services.

Internal Training Hours 1544

External Training Hours 7245

Total Training Hours 8789

Industrial Relations

Esperance Port has been negotiating a new Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreement with its Operations and Maintenance 
employees since May 2013. At 30 June, 2014, significant 
progress had been made and an agreement is expected to be 
reached in the near future.

Developing Our People

Learning and Development Programs conducted in 2013-
14 included significant focus on safety in the workplace. In 
August 2013, 41 EPSL Supervisors and Managers took part 
in Beyond Compliance, a cognitive-based approach to safety 
that motivates and guides people from a “tick the box” safety 
culture, to going beyond minimum compliance standards 
required by legislation. The training was a great success.

Further safety training was carried out for all employees 
and contractors during February 2014 with Developing the 
Safety Roadmap. This training is designed to deliver the 
Port’s “safety roadmap” by exploring the Port’s current safety 

situation on site, and mapping a plan to address EPSL’s 
priorities and needs.

Other Learning and Development Programs delivered during 
the year included Developing Teams, The New Manager, 
How to Run Meetings, Project Management, Executive 
Development Program, Continuous Improvement, Lead 
Auditor and  Facilitation Skills.

Occupational Health and Safety

Safety Improvements

EPSL has continued to develop its Occupational Health and 
Safety Management System with the refinement of safety 
tools provided to all EPSL employees and contractors. 
This includes Take 5 - an individual risk assessment tool 
completed prior to commencing tasks; HAZOB’s – a formal 
documented process to manage hazards identified in the 
work place; templates for pre-start and toolbox meetings 
with schedules for the meetings; Safety Alerts; standardized 
safety noticeboards for site; weekly safety topics; simpler JHA 
system; daily safety shares; Back to Basics Audits and kids 
colouring competition.

INX - Incident Management System

EPSL rolled out the INX web-based management system 
(InControl) to manage, track and report on Occupational 
Health and Safety performance. The InControl module works 
with incident reporting and management (including Near Miss), 
hazard reporting and management, auditing, opportunities for 
improvement, meeting minutes and inspections. Actions are 
generated as part of any item entered into INX and personnel 
are held accountable for managing and closing out the 
actions. This was a huge undertaking by EPSL employees.

OHS Improvement Plan

Education and Training continues to be a strong focus at 
EPSL. Training is delivered in the most appropriate format 
for the student.  Where required, the OHS Department is 
able to develop and deliver formalised training by one of the 
experienced Department members. Education and Training 
continues on an informal basis through the daily interaction, 
conversation and support of all personnel on site.

EPSL recognises and encourages the concept that 
Occupational Health and Safety belongs to everyone. This 
provides all employees and others working on site, the ability 
to not only recognize hazards but to report and control them 
as well as have input into how they are best managed. The 
EPSL Charter supports that safety does not start and finish at 
the gate but also at home and in the general community.

With the increase in activity over the 2013-14 year, EPSL 
continues to grow and develop OH&S with a complete new 
OH&S Management Plan being implemented. The 2015-2020 
Five Year Strategic Safety Plan is being developed to be rolled 
out on the 1 January, 2015. This sets the vision and direction 
EPSL will take going forward.

Human Resources & OHS Continued

Rescue from heights training for Emergency  

Response Team members
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Statistics

Measure
Actual results Results against target

2012-13 2013-14 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate

3.52 1.85 0 or 10% reduction (actual 
target can be stated)

47% reduction on previous 
financial year.

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate

2.4 3.0 0 or 10% reduction (actual 
target can be stated)

25% increase on previous 
financial year.

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

 

100%
100%

 

100%
100%

 

Actual result to be stated.
Greater than or equal to 80%.

 

All workers returned to work 
within the required time frames.

2012-13 2013-14 Comment on result

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 14.30 11.4 20% improvement on previous financial year.

Lost Time Injury Duration Rate 30.2 22.66 25% improvement on previous financial year.

Occurrences reported to Department of Minerals 
and Petroleum

3 2 33% decrease on previous financial year.

Improvement Notices received 11 7 36% decrease on previous financial year.

Prohibition Notices received 4 3 25% decrease on previous financial year.

Communication continues to be the cornerstone of 
Occupational Health and Safety with the implementation 
of formalised communication structures and templates for 
Occupational Health and Safety. Consistency ensures the 
same message is delivered to everyone through the correct 
process.

Site Safety Committee

Site Safety Committee meetings continue to operate on a 
monthly basis as a forum for the elected Health and Safety 
Representatives on site to interact with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Department to table matters of concern 

and to feedback to the workforce. This process continues to 
work well and drive safety on site. 

Safety Steering Committee meetings with the EPSL Senior 
Executive also run monthly and they drive the direction of 
safety on the higher level. This meeting reports to the Board 
Safety Steering Committee.

The Occupational Health and Safety Department remains 
committed to ensuring a safe work place, and over the 
coming year this commitment will be supported by the 
Port’s strong safety systems and culture, combined with the 
continual improvement process that is now embedded.

Emergency Response Team members with trainer (front right)
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Sponsorship and Donations 

Esperance Port contributed $80,000 to various local 
organisations during the 2013-14 financial year. The main 
benefactor was the Esperance Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry who received $10,700 for a number of initiatives, 
including the Over the Horizon Forum, business awards 
sponsorship and a Schools-Business Community program.

The Apex Club and Esperance Voluntary Fire and Rescue 
received $6000 each for their continued involvement in the 
weekly Port tours. Apex has been running the tours for more 
than 15 years. The South East Football Academy, which is run 
through the Clontarf Foundation, received $5000. EPSL has 
sponsored the local Academy since its establishment in 2005. 
The biennial Esperance Fun Day Out for local children, which 
is run by ESCARE Inc, received $5000.

Of the $80,000, Esperance sports clubs received $21,550, 
schools $2700, arts groups $3000 and 29 various local 
community and service groups a total of $53,000.

EPSL’s Sponsorship and Donations policy aims to improve 
relations with the local community, provide support to local 
businesses through its support for the Esperance Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, and support projects and initiatives 
that benefit the wider community. 

Business Meetings

During the year, EPSL held three meetings to inform 
customers, shipping agents, service providers and contractors 
about Port activities and to enable the meeting to discuss 
topics relevant to the various groups. One meeting was held 
in Perth and the other two in Esperance. All three were well 
attended.

The attendees were provided with information relating to a 
range of activities, including the merger of Esperance Port 
with the Albany and Bunbury ports to form the Southern 
Ports Authority, an update on the planned Multi User Iron 
Ore Facility (MUIOF) to be developed at the Port, Port 
improvements currently being undertaken and planned for the 
future, and the planned maintenance dredging to return the 
harbour to its design depths. 

The Port responded to questions relating to industrial 
relations, and priority shipping demands. A commitment was 
made to maintain a dialogue with each group and provide 
information on matters of particular interest.

Port Consultative Committee

The Port Consultative Committee (PCC) met on three 
occasions during the year to be briefed on activities of interest 
and that may impact on the local community.

The PCC was formed in 2001 to act as a conduit for the 
flow of information between the Port and the community. 
The membership comprises a wide range of local people 
representing State Government agencies, industry, tourism, 
local government, environmental groups and State Members 
of Parliament.

Of particular interest were the future plans for the Port 
including the MUIOF and the Southern Ports merger, as 
well as future developments such as the proposed export 
of woodchips. Australian Plantation Log Exports (APLE) 
personnel attended two of the meetings to outline initial plans 
for the export of blue gum logs through Esperance, but later 
explained that plans had changed and the company had 
received a license to trial three shipments of woodchips.

Corporate Relations

Naming ceremony for the Port’s new pilot launch, Kwillina
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The Esperance Region has some 50,000 hectares of bluegum 
plantations. Trees will be chipped at the plantations and 
stockpiled offsite before being road transport into the Port and 
loaded directly onto a ship alongside berth two using mobile 
facilities. The first trial shipment is expected to occur early in 
2014-15.

The meetings were also interested in EPSL’s involvement in 
the visit to Esperance by cruise ships, dust management 
at the Port, and the planned dredging of Port waters. The 
meetings were told of infrastructure improvements being 
undertaken during the year, the purchase of new equipment 
and the roll-out of a container management plan to deal with 
the increase in the container trade.

Port Visitors

The Port’s policy to foster good relations with industry, service 
providers, current and potential new customers, schools, local 
government and State Government representatives continued 
throughout 2013-14 with a number of visits, tours and 
inspections and excursions.

The Governor of Western Australia, His Excellency Malcolm 
McCusker, visited the Port during the year as did the Premier 
of Western Australia, and the Ministers for Transport, 
Environment, Mines and Petroleum, Regional Development, 
Agriculture and Food and Workforce Development.

Representatives from a number of State Government 
Departments and Agencies also toured the Port, including, 
Treasury, Transport, Bunbury Port Authority, State 
Development, Mines and Petroleum, Goldfields Esperance 
Development Commission, as did the councillors and staff 
from the Esperance Shire Council. EPSL also hosted the 
annual tour by members and the executive of the Esperance 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry.

Of interest to mining companies with iron ore tenements in the 
Yilgarn Region was the proposed new MUIOF, and employees 
of these companies along with financial and engineering 
consultants also met with Port personnel to discuss the 
proposed new facility and inspect current Port operations.

Two groups of African mining executives also inspected 
operations under an initiative organised by the University of 
Western Australia, and local primary and high school students 
visited.

Education Program

Year nine classes from the Esperance Senior High School that 
are involved in a joint education program with the Esperance 
Port toured the Port during the year as part of their Society 
and Environment studies. Port personnel talked to the 
students before the visit outlining the history of the Port, the 
important economic contribution it makes to the town and the 
employment opportunities that it provides for local people.

Of particular interest this year were the safety initiatives being 
rolled out by the OHS Department, environmental initiatives 
relating to the proposed dredging program and the marine 
pests study, and the increased grain exports.

The students were also interested in the Port’s training 
programs, particularly the exercises for the Emergency 
Response Team in rescuing injured personnel from heights 
and enclosed spaces.  

 

  

  

Mining personnel from Africa toured the Port 
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Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the Esperance Port Authority trading 
as Esperance Ports Sea & Land (“the Authority”) has pleasure 
in submitting its report for the financial year ended 30 June 
2014.

1. Directors

The Directors of the Authority during the whole of the 2013-14 
financial year and up to the date of this report were:

R. McKinnon 
FCPA, FCIS

Appointed October 2010  

P. Chalmer 
B.Sc (Hons.), Ph.D

Appointed November 2007 

K. Finlayson 
JP CitWA

Appointed March 2009 

T. Shanahan 
LLB PSM

Appointed March 2009

K. Horne Appointed January 2012

2. Directors’ Meetings

The number of Directors’ meetings and number of meetings 
attended by each of the Directors of the Authority during the 
financial year were:

Director
Maximum num-
ber of meetings

Number 
attended

R. McKinnon 11 11

T. Shanahan 11 11

P. Chalmer 11 11

K. Finlayson 11 8

K. Horne 11 10

3. Principal Activities

During the year the principal activities of the Port consisted of:

Planning for future development;•	

Promoting and facilitating trade;•	

Maintaining existing and providing new infrastructure when •	
required;

Providing services, power supply and labour as required for •	
stevedoring, pilotage, mooring and maintenance activities; 
and

Managing the environment of the Port.•	

There were no significant changes in the nature of activities of 
the Authority during the year.

4. Dividends

The Authority did not pay or declare any Dividends since the 
end of the previous financial year.

The Board will however make a recommendation to 
Government with respect to the 2013-14 Financial Year in 
accordance with current Government Financial Policy and 
subject to Government approval dividends will be provided for 
in the 2014-15 financial year.

5. Operating and financial review

Review of operations

Comments on the operations and the results of those 
operations are set out below:

2014 2013

Total trade (tonnes) 14,938,954 13,875,044

$’000 $’000

Revenue from cargo 13,896 9,626

Revenue from vessels 16,069 14,855

Revenue from port services 43,876 35,578

Infrastructure revenue 3,796 2,780

Other revenue and income 4,954 6,386

Total revenue and income 82,592 69,225

Less expenditure 79,250 70,612

Operating profit before tax 3,342 (1,387)

Income tax benefit 56 918

Operating profit after tax 3,398 (469)

Commentary on operating results

Operating profit after tax of $3.398 million is a significant 
improvement on previous years and demonstrates the 
improving financial performance of the Port. 

Record trade volumes boosted by a bumper 2013-14 harvest 
contributed to record revenue and further strengthened 
the Port’s cashflow position and places the Port in a strong 
position to deliver the returns expected by Government in the 
future.  

6. Significant Changes in the State of 

Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the Authority that occurred 
during the financial year under review.

7. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion 
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of the Directors of the Authority, to affect significantly the 
operations of the Authority, the results of those operations, or 
the state of affairs of the Authority, in future financial years.

8. Likely Developments

The Authority expects that trade volumes for 2014-15 financial 
year will be broadly in line with the past year.

Subject to the proclamation of relevant sections of the 
amending legislation, it is anticipated that the Authority will 
amalgamate with Bunbury and Albany Ports on 1 October 
2014 to become part of the Southern Ports Authority. It 
is anticipated that local Port management will continue to 
represent the interests of Port users and the local community 
in Esperance.

9. Directors’ Emoluments

In accordance with Section 13(c)(i) of Schedule 5 of the Port 
Authorities Act 1999, the nature and amount of each major 
element of remuneration of each Director of the Authority, 
each of the three named executives who received the highest 
remuneration and other key management personnel of the 
Authority are:

Non-Executive Directors of Esperance Port Authority

Name
Director’s 

Fee $
Superan-
nuation $

Total 
$

R. McKinnon 
Chairman

45,000 4,163 49,163

T. Shanahan 25,000 2,312 27,312

P. Chalmer 16,500 1,526 18,026

K. Finlayson 16,500 1,526 18,026

K.Horne 16,500 1,526 18,026

Senior Executives of Esperance Port Authority

 
Name

Base 
Salary 
$

Motor 
Vehicle $

Super-
annua-
tion $

 
Total 
$

S.P.Flanagan  

(Chief Executive Officer)

377,362 15,041 27,895 420,298

R.H. Lovell  

(Harbour Master)

218,965 - 20,254 239,219

S.R.Dickason 

(Deputy Harbour Master)

203,324 - 18,807 222,131

10. Environmental Regulation

The Authority’s operations are subject to regulation under 
both Commonwealth and State environmental legislation 
applicable to any Australian commercial entity. Under the Port 
Authorities Act 1999, the Authority is also required to “protect 
the environment of the Port and minimise the impact of Port 
activities on that environment”.

11. Environmental Management

The Authority is committed to demonstrating that it is an 
environmentally responsible organisation and this commitment 
is reflected in its values and corporate priorities. In order to 
comply with environmental responsibilities and objectives, the 
Authority maintains an environmental management system to 
the international standard ISO14001. 

12. Rounding off 

Amounts have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars in the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements.

This report is made with a resolution of the Directors.

R. McKinnon 
Chairman
Esperance Port Authority
15 September 2014

Esperance Port Authority Board Directors, from left: 

Kim Horne, Tim Shanahan, Bob McKinnon, Kathy Finlayson 

and Phil Chalmer
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Revenue 5 80,424 67,415

Other income 6 2,168 1,810

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (10,955) (5,736)

Employee benefits 8 (19,003) (17,673)

General administration (9,964) (9,507)

Materials, supplies and fuel (5,604) (5,628)

Contract services (18,976) (14,337)

Power and water (7,834) (6,751)

Insurance (1,205) (908)

Government charges (1,378) (1,263)

Finance costs 9 (4,281) (4,774)

Other expenses 10 (50) (4,035)

Profit / (loss) before income tax 3,342 (1,387)

Income tax benefit 11 56 918

Profit / (loss) for the year 3,398 (469)

Other comprehensive income net of income tax - -

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the year 3,398 (469)

The notes on pages 32 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.

29



Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2014

Note 2014 2013

$’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13 19,646 8,597

Trade and other receivables 14 13,831 13,406

Inventories 15 2,496 1,727

Total current assets 35,973 23,730

Non-Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 14 26,332 31,804

Deferred tax assets 11 5,990 8,326

Inventories 15 2,305 1,694

Property, plant and equipment 16 48,714 51,551

Intangible assets 17 344 420

Total non-current assets 83,685 93,795

TOTAL ASSETS 119,658 117,525

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 8,607 5,208

Interest bearing borrowings 19 8,065 7,494

Provisions 20 3,739 4,163

Total current liabilities 20,411 16,865

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings 19 53,074 59,139

Deferred tax liabilities 11 10,290 12,683

Provisions 20 880 893

Total non-current liabilities 64,244 72,715

TOTAL LIABILITIES 84,655 89,580

NET ASSETS 35,003 27,946

EQUITY

Contributed equity 21 7,268 3,609

Retained earnings 21 27,735 24,337

TOTAL EQUITY 35,003 27,946

The notes on pages 32 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.

30



Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2014

Note Contributed 
equity

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2012 3,609 24,806 28,415

Profit / (loss) for the year - (469) (469)

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the year - - -

Balance at 30 June 2013 3,609 24,337 27,946

Balance at 1 July 2013 22 3,609 24,337 27,946

Profit / (loss) for the year - 3,398 3,398

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the year - - -

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions from owners 3,659 - 3,659

Balance at 30 June 2014 7,268 27,735 35,003

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 84,924 71,653

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (64,849) (57,922)

Cash generated from operations 20,075 13,731

Interest paid (4,281) (4,774)

Net cash from operating activities 22 15,794 8,957

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,145 5,042

Payments for property, plant and equipment (6,243) (3,312)

Net cash (used in) / from investing activities (1,098) 1,730

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (7,494) (10,089)

Proceeds from borrowings 2,000 -

Proceeds from government 1,847 -

Net cash (used in) / from financing activities (3,647) (10,089)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,049 597

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 8,597 8,000

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 13 19,646 8,597

The notes on pages 32 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

Esperance Port Authority (“the Authority”) is a not-for-profit 
entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) 
(including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the financial 
reporting provisions of the Port Authorities Act 1999. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 15 
September 2014 by the Board of Directors of Esperance Port 
Authority. 

(b)  Presentation of the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income 

The Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income classification of expenses by nature is considered 
to provide more relevant and reliable information than 
classification by function due to the nature of the Authority’s 
operations. 

The Directors have concluded that the financial statements 
present fairly the Authority’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows and that it has complied with 
applicable standards and interpretations, except that it 
has departed from AASB 101, para 99, to achieve a fair 
presentation.

(c) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention. 

(d) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars 
which is the Authority’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise 
stated. 

(e) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty 
and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements are:

Operating lease commitments – as lessor

The Authority has entered into commercial property leases 
on some of its buildings and land and has determined that 
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
these buildings and land and has thus classified the leases as 
operating leases.

Defined benefit plans

Various actuarial assumptions are required when determining 
the Authority’s superannuation obligations. These 
assumptions and the related carrying amounts are discussed 
in note 20(d).

2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements unless otherwise stated.

(a) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows:

(i) Rendering of services

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
on completion of the delivery of the service to the customer.

(ii) Interest 

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues using the effective 
interest method [see note 2(b)].

(iii) Rental income

Rental income is recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are 
recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

(b) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested 
and interest receivable under finance leases.  Interest income 
is recognised as it accrues in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest 
method. The interest receivable component of finance lease 
receivables is also recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective 
interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and 
finance charges payable under finance leases. All borrowing 
costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest 
method. The interest expense component of finance lease 
payments is also recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
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and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest 
method.

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period 
in which they are incurred except where they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset in which case they are capitalised as 
part of the cost of the asset, in accordance with AASB 123 
Borrowing Costs. 

In determining the amount of borrowing costs to be 
capitalised during the financial year, investment revenue 
earned directly relating to the borrowings, is deducted from 
the borrowing costs incurred.

(c) Income tax

The Authority operates within the National Tax Equivalent 
Regime (NTER) whereby an equivalent amount in respect 
of income tax is payable to the State Government. The 
calculation of the liability in respect of income tax is governed 
by NTER guidelines and directions approved by Government. 

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the Authority 
is required to comply with AASB 112 Income Taxes. 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  
Income tax expense is recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for 
temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority 
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax 
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

(d) Receivables

(i) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the original 
invoice amounts less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts. Receivables are generally settled within 30 days 
except for property rentals, which are governed by individual 
lease agreements. 

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect 
its debts. 

(ii) Lease receivables

A finance lease receivable is recognised for leases of property, 
plant and equipment which effectively transfers to the 
lessee substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to 
legal ownership of the leased asset. The lease receivable is 
initially recognised as the amount of the present value of the 
minimum lease payments receivable at the reporting date 
plus the present value of any unguaranteed residual value 
expected to accrue at the end of the lease term.  

Finance lease payments are allocated between interest 
revenue and reduction of the lease receivable over the term of 
the lease in order to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease with 
interest revenue calculated using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease and recognised directly in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(e) Inventories

Inventories consist of stores which are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value.

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

The Authority has a general policy of expensing at the time 
of purchase all individual assets costing $1,000 or less or 
with a useful life of less than three (3) years.  The materiality 
of the item purchased is also taken into consideration when 
adopting this policy. Regardless of cost, physical control over 
all the Authority’s assets is maintained.

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self constructed assets 
includes the following: 

the cost of materials and direct labour, •	
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset •	
to a working condition for its intended use, 
when the Authority has an obligation to remove the •	
asset or restore the site, an estimate of the cost of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the 
site on which they are located, and
capitalised borrowing costs.•	

33



2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) 

(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.  

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gains or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item 
and is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is 
probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Authority. The carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised.  Ongoing repairs and 
maintenance is expensed as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis in profit or loss over the estimated useful 
lives of each component. Leased assets are depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is 
reasonably certain that the Authority will obtain ownership by 
the end of the lease term.  Land is not depreciated.

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from 
the date that they are installed and are ready for use, or in 
respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the 
asset is completed and ready for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
years of significant items of property, plant and equipment are 
as follows:

Channels 20–80  years•	
Breakwater 50  years•	
Buildings and ancillaries 5–50  years•	
Berths 20–25  years•	
Oil pipeline 20  years•	
Electrical services 5–40  years•	
Office equipment 2–15  years•	
Motor vehicles 4–7  years•	
Plant and equipment 2–20  years•	
Bulk loading facilities 3–40  years•	
Berth stabilisation and fenders 10–25  years•	

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(g) Intangible assets

(i) Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
as incurred.  

Development activities involve a plan or design for the 
production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes.  Development expenditure is capitalised only if 
development costs can be measured reliably, the product 

or process is technically and commercially feasible, future 
economic benefits are probable, and the Authority intends to 
and has sufficient resources to complete development and 
to use or sell the asset.  The expenditure capitalised includes 
the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that 
are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended 
use, and capitalised borrowing costs.  Other development 
expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income as incurred. 

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. 

(iii) Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is 
not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an 
intangible asset. 

(iv) Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are 
available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative years are as follows:

Computer software 2–5  years•	
Licenses 3  years•	

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(h) Impairment

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at each balance 
sheet date. Where there is any indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the 
Authority is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances 
where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
at each reporting date irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment. 
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The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no 
risk of material impairment where fair value is determined 
by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is 
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for 
indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

All impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Leases

Leases are classified as either finance leases or operating 
leases based on the economic substance of the lease 
agreements.

Leases in terms of which the Authority assumes substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. On initial recognition the leased asset is measured at 
an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. A finance lease 
liability of equal value is also recognised. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets 
are not recognised on the Authority’s Statement of Financial 
Position.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are 
apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 
of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated 
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by 
revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term 
of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

(j) Financial instruments

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Authority has 
three categories of financial instruments:

Loans and receivables•	
Held to maturity investments•	
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost•	

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

Financial Assets•	
Cash and cash equivalents•	

Trade and other receivables•	

Financial Liabilities•	
Trade and other payables•	

Interest bearing liabilities•	

WATC/Bank borrowings•	

Finance lease liabilities•	

Refer to Note 23(ii) for further information on the classification 
of financial instruments. 

Initial recognition and measurement is at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs for assets not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables 
approximates their carrying amount because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is 
not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 
Gains or losses are recognised when the financial assets are 
derecognised or impaired. 

(k) Payables

Payables, including trade payables, amounts payable and 
accrued expenses, are recognised for amounts to be paid 
in the future for goods and services received prior to the 
reporting date. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, 
as they are generally settled within 30 days. 

(l) Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income when the liabilities are 
derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred unless they relate 
to qualifying assets. 

(m) Employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in 
respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Annual leave

Annual leave is expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be a ‘short-term employee benefit’. The annual 
leave liability is recognised and measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
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2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) 

(m) Employee benefits (continued)

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of 
the reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability 
as the Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of 
the reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified 
as current liabilities as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as non-current liabilities because the Authority has 
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.

(n) Employee superannuation

The Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme, and the Superannuation and 
Family Benefits Act Scheme, a defined benefit pension 
scheme, are now closed to new members. The Authority 
is liable for superannuation benefits for past years’ service 
of members of the Superannuation and Family Benefits Act 
Scheme who elected to transfer to the GSS Scheme. The 
Authority accrues superannuation benefits to the pension 
scheme for those members who elected not to transfer from 
that scheme. Monthly contributions are also made to SERF 
to satisfy existing workforce requirements for waterside 
employees who transferred to the Authority during 1992 and 
for casual staff.

The superannuation liability for existing employees with the 
pre-transfer service incurred under the Superannuation and 

Family Benefits Act Scheme who transferred to the GSS 
Scheme is provided for at reporting date.

The Authority’s total superannuation liability has been 
actuarially assessed as at 30 June 2014.

Employees who are not members of either the Pension or 
the GSS Schemes became non contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), an accumulation 
fund until 15 April 2007. From 16 April 2007, employees 
who are not members of the Pension, GSS or WSS 
Schemes become non-contributory members of the GESB 
Superannuation Scheme (GESB Super), a taxed accumulation 
fund. The Authority makes concurrent contributions to the 
Government Employee Superannuation Board (GESB) on 
behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) 
Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for 
superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESB 
Super Schemes.

Defined benefit plan

The Authority’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit 
pension plan is calculated separately by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return 
for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is 
discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of 
any plan assets is deducted. These benefits are unfunded.

The discount rate used is the market yield rate at the balance 
sheet date on national government bonds that have maturity 
dates approximating to the terms of the entity’s obligations. 
The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.

The superannuation expense of the defined benefit plan is 
made up of the following elements:

Current service cost;•	
Interest cost (unwinding of the discount);•	
Actuarial gains and losses; and•	
Past service cost.•	

Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plan are 
recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income.

The superannuation expense of the defined contribution plan 
is recognised as and when the contributions fall due.

(o) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which 
they are declared.

(p) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the 
Authority has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability.

The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
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(q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position comprise cash on hand, cash at bank, at call 
deposits and term deposits due within 30 days.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flow, cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above.

(r) Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST.  The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

(s) Contributed equity

The Authority receives support from the WA Government (see 
note 21).  The amount received is recognised directly as a 
credit to contributed equity.

(t) New and Revised Accounting Standards that are 
effective for these Financial Statements

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, 
some of which are relevant to the Authority. The Authority 
has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended 
pronouncements. The Authority’s assessment of the new and 
amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Authority 
but applicable in future reporting periods is set out below:

AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and •	
AASB 2010-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010).

This Standard is mandatorily applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2013. However, AASB 2012-6 defers the application 
date of AASB 9 from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 
2015. AASB 9 introduces new requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities.

Management has reviewed the requirements of AASB 9 
and AASB 2010-7 and has concluded that there is no 
material effect on the financial statements.

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8: •	
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 2013 (applicable for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance 
for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. 
AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required 
to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how 
to determine fair value when fair value is required or 
permitted by other Standards.

Management has reviewed the requirements of AASB 
13 and AASB 2011-8 and has concluded that there is 
no material effect on the financial statements.

AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and •	
AASB 2011-10: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) 
(applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013).

This Standard introduces a number of changes to 
presentation and disclosure of a defined benefit plan. 
AASB 119 also includes changes to the criteria for 
determining when termination benefits should be 
recognised as obligation. 

These amendments have no significant impact on the 
entity. 

AASB 2012-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting •	
Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities (application for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014).

This Standard amends the required disclosures in 
AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of 
an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect 
or potential effect of netting arrangements, including 
rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised 
financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on 
the entity’s statement of financial position.  

There will be no impact on the entity as the entity does 
not have any netting arrangements in place.

AASB 2012-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting •	
Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013).

These amendments are a consequence of the annual 
improvement process, which provides a vehicle for 
making non-urgent but necessary amendments to 
Standards.

This Standard has no significant impact to the 
Authority’s financial statements.

(u) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards 
not yet operative

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. Consequently, the Authority has not applied 
early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued that may impact the Authority. Where 
applicable, the Authority plans to apply these Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(u) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

Operative 
for reporting 
periods 
beginning on/
after

Int 21 Levies
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a 
government levy imposed should be recognised. There is no financial impact for the 
Authority at reporting date.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2017. 
The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 
2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance 
and Other Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact 
for the Model Statutory Authority as it doesn’t impact accounting for related bodies 
and the Authority has no interests in other entities.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures, introduces new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that 
exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to 
the arrangement.
Mandatory application of the Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit 
entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact for the Model Statutory 
Authority as the new standard will continue to require proportional consolidation of 
the Authority’s rights to assets and liabilities for the unincorporated joint operation.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements under 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments 
in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. Mandatory application was 
deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial 
impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, removing the consolidation requirements of the 
earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the 
preparation of separate financial statements. Mandatory application was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 128 Investments In Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates, introducing a number of clarifications for the accounting treatments of 
changed ownership interest.
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by 
AASB 2012-10. The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the 
Model Statutory Authority as it doesn’t hold investments in associates or and the 
accounting treatments for joint operations is consistent with current practice.

1 Jan 2014
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Operative 
for reporting 
periods 
beginning on/
after

AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard is an interim standard cross-referencing definitions of ‘materiality’ 
in other Standards and will remain operative until references to AASB 1031 are 
removed from other Standards. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting
This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the circumstances in 
which they are to be included in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-
profit entities within the General Government Sector. The Authority will be required 
to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances 
between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 
1038 and Int 10 & 12]
[modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 
The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies 
identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning 
of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.
The model Authority does not routinely hold financial assets and financial liabilities 
that it intends to settle on a net basis, therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets
This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes.
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives 
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]
This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where 
a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from 
one counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations.
The model Authority does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore 
there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments.
This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the 
deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 
2017 (Part C). The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014
1 Jan 2017
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3. Changes in accounting estimates

The Authority has not changed any accounting estimates during the past financial year.

4. Expenses by nature

Operating expenses are presented on the face of the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income using a 
classification based on the nature of expenses (see note 1(b)). Marine expenses include those expenses derived from water-
based activities, Port operations expenses include those expenses related to land-based support activities, whilst general 
administration expenses includes expenditure of an administrative nature.

5. Revenue

Revenue consists of the following items:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Rendering of services

   Charges on cargo 13,896 9,626

   Charges on ships 16,069 14,855

   Port services 43,876 35,578

Infrastructure charge 3,796 2,780

Interest revenue on bank accounts 211 360

Rentals and leases 472 486

Other operating revenue 2,104 3,730

Total revenue 80,424 67,415

6. Other income

Other income consists of the following items:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 1     135

Sale of electricity and water 2,167   1,675

2,168 1,810
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7. Depreciation and amortisation expense

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Depreciation

Buildings and ancillaries 1,082 1,308

Berths one and two 275 275

Berth three and ship loader 34 34

Berth stabilisation and fenders 115 115

Breakwater 210 210

Bulk loading facilities (a) 7,537 2,129

Channels 304 328

Electrical services 75 77

Office equipment 131 76

Oil pipeline 18 18

Plant and equipment 1,082 1,094

Total depreciation 10,863 5,664

Amortisation

Intangible assets 92 72

Total amortisation 92 72

Total depreciation and amortisation 10,955 5,736

(a) Refer to Note 16A

8. Employee benefits expense

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 16,774 15,530

Superannuation – defined benefit plans (see note 20(e)) 1,563 1,406

Long service leave 268 237

Annual leave 193 268

Sick leave 188 207

Accumulated days off 17 25

19,003 17,673

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are included at note 10 Other expenses. The 
employment on-costs liability is included at note 20 Provisions.

9. Finance costs

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Interest paid 4,281 4,774

Finance costs expensed 4,281 4,774
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10. Other expenses

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Employee on-costs (a) 50 55

Impairment loss – assets (b) - 3,556

Loss on sale of assets - 424

50 4,035

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance, payroll tax and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated 
with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 20 Provisions. Superannuation 
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employee on-costs.

(b) During the 2012-13 financial year the Mineral Concentrate Circuit was assessed as requiring further impairment.

 The carrying value of the Mineral Concentrate Circuit was written down by a further $3.556 million. This reflected 
management’s estimate of $6.5 million ($3.5 million 2011-12 and $3.0 million 2012-13) being the minimum amount 
required to be spent on the facility to enable bulk exports to resume and a further $0.556 million relating to capital 
expenditure on the Black Swan Nickel Shed that was being demolished. Refer note 16 for further details.

11. Income tax expense

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (963) 918

Change in the unrecognised temporary differences 1,019 -

56 918

Total income tax benefit / (expense) 56 918
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11. Income tax expense (continued)

Reconciliation between tax expense and pre tax net profit

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Profit / (loss) for the period 3,342 (1,387)

Total income tax benefit / (expense) (963) 918

Profit / (loss) including income tax 2,379 (469)

Income tax using the statutory tax rate of 30% (2012: 30%) (1,003) 416

Non-deductible expenses 40 82

(963) 498

(Under) / over provision in prior years 1,019 420

Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped - -

Income tax benefit 56 918

Deferred income tax

2014 2013 2014 2013

Statement of Financial 
position 

Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities

Other adjustments (8,648) (11,144)

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes - -

Finance lease receivable (current) (1,642) (1,539)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (10,290) (12,683)

Deferred tax assets

Employee benefits 1,386 1,172

Prepaid rental - -

Tax losses 349 771

Others 4,255 6,383

Gross deferred tax assets 5,990 8,326

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (10,290) (12,683)

Net deferred tax assets / (liability) (4,300) (4,357)

Deferred tax charge 56 918

Current tax liabilities

The current tax liability of nil (2013: nil) represents the amount of income taxes payable in respect of current and prior financial 
periods.
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12. Dividends

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Dividends paid in the financial year - 3,238

In accordance with Government Financial Policy, WA Ports are required to pay dividends of 65% of after tax profits. However, 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, dividends relating to the financial results for the year ended 30 June 2014 
have not been provided as they are expected to be declared by Government after balance date.

A dividend of $3.238 million in respect of the financial results for the years ended 2005-06, 2006-07, 2007-08 and 2010-11 was 
paid by 30 June 2013.

13. Cash and cash equivalents

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Bank balances 19,646 8,597

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows 19,646 8,597

The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 23(i).

14. Trade and other receivables

Note 2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Current

Receivables 7,640 8,196

GST receivable 153 74

Finance lease receivable 5,473 5,130

Prepayments 565 6

13,831 13,406

Non-current

Finance lease receivable 26,332 31,804

26,332 31,804

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in 
them being past due or impaired.

At 30 June 2014 the ageing analysis of trade debtors past due but not impaired was nil.
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15. Inventories

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Current

Stores – at cost 2,496 1,727

2,496 1,727

Non-current

Stores – at cost 2,305 1,694

2,305 1,694

16. Property, plant and equipment

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Channels 

At cost 16,921 16,631

Accumulated depreciation (3,831) (3,526)

13,090 13,105

Land

At cost 1,282 1,282

1,282 1,282

Buildings and ancillaries

At cost 18,472 16,179

Accumulated depreciation (6,528) (5,508)

11,944 10,671

Berths one and two

At cost 6,157 6,157

Accumulated depreciation (4,891) (4,616)

1,266 1,541

Berth three and ship loader

At cost 616 616

Accumulated depreciation (390) (356)

226 260

Berth stabilisation and fenders

At cost 3,911 3,911

Accumulated depreciation (2,655) (2,540)

1,256 1,371

Breakwater

At cost 10,483 10,482

Accumulated depreciation  (3,302) (3,092)

7,181 7,390

Bulk loading facilities

At cost 36,212 37,008

Accumulated depreciation (26,315) (19,532) 

Accumulated impairment losses (6,500) (8,515)

3,397 8,961
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Electrical services 

At cost 1,653 1,683

Accumulated depreciation (753) (708)

900 975

Office equipment

At cost 946 908

Accumulated depreciation (557) (504)

389 404

Oil pipeline

At cost 540 360

Accumulated depreciation (324) (306)

216 54

Plant and equipment

At cost 14,198 11,352

Accumulated depreciation (6,631) (5,815)

7,567 5,537

Total property, plant and equipment at net book value 48,714 51,551

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are 
set out below.

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Breakwater

Carrying amount at 1 July 7,390 7,599

Depreciation for the year (210) (210)

Carrying amount at 30 June 7,180 7,390

Land

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,282 1,282

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,282 1,282

Buildings and ancillaries

Carrying amount at 1 July 10,671 8,834

Additions / Reclassification 2,355 3,145

Depreciation for the year (1,082) (1,308)

Disposals - -

Carrying amount at 30 June 11,944 10,671

Berths one and two

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,541 1,816

Additions - -

Depreciation for the year (275) (275)

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,266 1,541

Berth three and ship loader

Carrying amount at 1 July 260 268

Additions - 26

Depreciation for the year (34) (34)

Carrying amount at 30 June 226 260
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Berth stabilisation and fenders

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,371 1,486

Depreciation for the year (115) (115)

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,256 1,371

Bulk loading facilities

Carrying amount at 1 July 8,961 19,322

Additions 1,973 -

Disposals / Reclassification - (4,676)

Depreciation for the year (7,537) (2,129)

Impairment losses - (3,556)

Carrying amount at 30 June – refer note 16 A 3,397 8,961

Channels

Carrying amount at 1 July 13,105 13,348

Additions 289 85

Depreciation for the year (304) (328)

Carrying amount at 30 June 13,090 13,105

Electrical services

Carrying amount at 1 July 975 1,052

Depreciation for the year (75) (77)

Carrying amount at 30 June 900 975

Office equipment

Carrying amount at 1 July 404 130

Additions 116 350

Depreciation for the year (131) (76)

Carrying amount at 30 June 389 404

Oil pipeline

Carrying amount at 1 July 54 72

Additions 180 -

Depreciation for the year (18) (18)

Carrying amount at 30 June 216 54

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at 1 July 5,537 3,029

Additions/Reclassification 3,126 3,812

Depreciation for the year (1,082) (1,094)

Disposals (13) (210)

Carrying amount at 30 June 7,568 5,537

Total property, plant and equipment 48,714 51,551

16A- Bulk Loading Facilities – The Mineral Concentrate Circuit has not been in operation since October 2011. Included in the 
impairment of these facilities are management estimates of $6.5 million being the minimum amount deemed necessary to re-
commence the operation of the Mineral Concentrate Circuit (refer note 10). 

Also included in the impairment charge is the write down of the carrying value of the Black Swan Shed ($2.015 million) to nil, as 
this asset had reached the end of its economic life and has now been demolished.

At 30 June 2014, the effective life of the Mineral Concentrate Circuit was deemed to have expired. As a result accelerated 
depreciation of $5.328 million was posted to reduce the carrying value of this asset to nil.
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17. Intangible assets

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Computer software

At cost 719 704

Accumulated amortisation (375) (284)

344 420

Reconciliation of carrying amounts

Computer software

Carrying amount at 1 July 420 347

Additions 15 145

Amortisation expense (92) (72)

Carrying amount at 30 June 343 420

18. Trade and other payables

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Current

Trade payables 5,997 4,158

Accrued expenses 2,610 1,050

8,607 5,208

The Authority’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 23(i).

48



19. Interest bearing borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Authority’s interest bearing borrowings, which are measured at 
amortised cost. For more information about the Authority’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk, see note 23(i).

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Current liabilities

Direct borrowings 645 675

Special borrowings 7,420 6,819

8,065 7,494

Non-current liabilities

Direct borrowings 3,575 4,220

Special borrowings 49,499 54,919

53,074 59,139

Financing arrangements

The Authority has access to the following lines of credit:

Total facilities available:

Direct and special borrowings 72,639 91,483

72,639 91,483

Facilities utilised at reporting date:

Direct and special borrowings 61,139 66,633

61,139 66,633

Facilities not utilised at reporting date:

Direct and special borrowings 11,500 24,850

11,500 24,850

Significant terms and conditions

The Port Authority’s loans and borrowings are financed at fixed rates of interest; therefore changes in interest rates will have no 
impact on the profitability of the Port Authority.
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19. Interest bearing borrowings (continued)

Interest rate risk exposure

The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk on the interest bearing borrowings and the effective weighted average interest rate 
at year end by maturity periods is set out in the following table.

2014

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

Fixed interest rate

 
1 year 
or less

Over 
1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 to 3 
years

Over 
3 to 4 
years

Over 
4 to 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

 
Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest bearing borrowings:

Direct borrowings 5.06% 645 617 592 539 436 1,391 4,220

Special borrowings 6.19% 7,420 7,892 7,880 7,414 7,689 18,624 56,919

6.11% 8,065 8,509 8,472 7,953 8,125 20,015 61,139

Weighted average interest rate:

Direct borrowings 5.06% 5.06% 5.06% 5.06% 5.06% 5.06% 5.06%

Special borrowings 6.19% 6.19% 6.19% 6.19% 6.19% 6.19% 6.19%

2013

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

Fixed interest rate

 
1 year 
or less

Over 
1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 to 3 
years

Over 
3 to 4 
years

Over 
4 to 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

 
Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest bearing borrowings:

Direct borrowings 5.11% 675 645 617 592 539 1,827 4,895

Special borrowings 6.27% 6,819 7,257 7,723 7,705 7,232 25,002 61,738

6.19% 7,494 7,902 8,340 8,297 7,771 26,829 66,633

Weighted average interest rate:

Direct borrowings 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11%

Special borrowings 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27%
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20. Provisions

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 1,364 1,171

Long service leave (b) 1,013 702

Superannuation (e) 4 3

Sick leave 894 740

Liability for accumulated days off 213 196

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 251 200

General claims provision (d) - 1,151

3,739 4,163

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave 580 623

Superannuation 23 26

Sick leave 214 181

Other provisions

Employment on-costs 63 63

880 893

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Within 12 months of balance date 950 800

More than 12 months after balance sheet date 414 371

1,364 1,171

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Within 12 months of balance date 600 500

More than 12 months after balance sheet date 993 825

1,593 1,325

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation premiums and payroll tax. The provision is measured at the present value of expected future 
payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is included at note 10 Other 
expenses.
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20. Provisions (continued)

(d) The general claims provision is in relation to revenue being overcharged for past services rendered.

(e) Defined benefit superannuation plans.

The following is a summary of the most recent financial position of the Pension Scheme and GSS Scheme related to the 
Authority, calculated in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

Present value of unfunded obligations 27 29

Fair value of plan assets - -

27 29

Reconciliation of movement in the present value of the unfunded 
obligations recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

Opening balance 29 29

Current service cost - -

Interest cost 1 1

Actuarial gain on liabilities 2 4

Benefits paid (including expenses and taxes) (4) (4)

28 30

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss  
and Other Comprehensive Income

Current service cost - -

Interest cost 1 1

Actual gain recognised - -

1 1

Historic summary

Defined benefit plan obligation 27 29

Plan assets - -

27 29

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities - -

Experience adjustments arising on plan assets - -

Principal actuarial assumptions

Discount rate 3.69 3.38

Expected future salary increases 5.0 5.0

Expected future pension increases 2.5 2.5

Anticipated return on plan assets - -

Expected contributions 5 4

Employer contributions are made to meet the cost of retirement benefit obligations as they fall due. For further details regarding 
the policy in respect of provision for retirement benefit obligations, refer to note 2(n).
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20. Provisions (continued)

Movements in provisions

Reconciliations for the carrying amounts of each class of provision, except for employee benefits are set out below:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Retirement benefit obligations 

Carrying amount at 1 July 29 29

Provisions made during the year 2 5

Amounts utilised in the year (4) (4)

Carrying amount at 30 June 27 30

Employment on-costs provision 

Carrying amount at 1 July 263 209

Provisions made during the year 51 54

Amounts utilised in the year 1 -

Carrying amount at 30 June 315 263

General claims provision

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,151 973

Provisions made during the year - 178

Amounts utilised in the year (1,151) -

Carrying amount at 30 June - 1,151

21. Equity

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Contributed equity

Balance at the start of the year 3,609 3,609

Capital contributions – MRWA gifted infrastructure 1,811 -

Capital contributions – Treasury 1,848 -

Balance at end of year 7,268 3,609

Retained earnings

Balance at start of year 24,337 24,806

Profit for the period 3,398 (469)

Balance at end of year 27,735 24,337
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22. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Reconciliation of Profit / (loss) after tax to the net cash flows from operations

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit / (Loss) for the period 3,398 (469)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 10,863 5,664

Amortisation of intangible assets 92 72

Loss / (Gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) 3,846

Gain on currency hedging - -

Revenue recognition adjustment - -

Income tax benefit (56) (918)

Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 14,296 8,195

Change in trade and other receivables (4) 2,563

Change in inventories (1,380) (645)

Change in trade and other payables 3,320 1,126

Change in provisions and employee benefits (438) (2,282)

Net cash from operating activities 15,794 8,957

23. Financial instruments

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables, interest bearing 
borrowings, and finance leases. The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Authority’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks. 

The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its long-term debt obligations. The 
Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at fixed rates with 
varying maturities. The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. Other than as 
detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis in the table below, the Authority has limited exposure to interest rate risk because 
it has no borrowings other than WATC borrowings and finance leases (fixed interest rate).
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Authority’s policy is to manage its finance costs using a mix of fixed and variable debt with the objective of achieving 
optimum returns whilst managing interest rate risk to avoid uncertainty and volatility in the market place.

The Authority constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of 
existing positions and alternative financing structures.

At the balance sheet date, if interest rates had moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, the 
effect would be as follows:

Carrying 
Amount

+0.50% change (0.50%) change

Profit Equity Profit Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 19,646 98 69 (98) (69)

Total Increase / (Decrease) 98 69 (98) (69)

Carrying 
Amount

+0.50% change (0.50%) change

Profit Equity Profit Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,597 43 30 (43) (30)

Total Increase / (Decrease) 43 30 (43) (30)

Foreign currency risk 

The Authority is exposed to foreign currency on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the Authority i.e. Australian dollars. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US dollars. The Authority uses forward 
exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Where necessary the forward exchange contracts are rolled over at 
maturity.

The overall foreign exchange exposure of the Authority is not significant. No sensitivity analysis is made for the foreign currency 
exposure.

Interest rate risk

The Authority’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Authority’s long-term debt 
obligations. The Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at 
fixed rates with varying maturities or at variable rates. The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation 
in maturity dates. All other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing and are not exposed to interest rate risk.

For the above stated reasons, no sensitivity analysis is made for the interest rate risk.
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Authority. The Authority measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular basis. With 
respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Authority’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the 
counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents.

The Authority operates predominantly within the shipping and cargo handling industry and accordingly is exposed to risks 
affecting that industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at note 
23(ii).

The Authority follows stringent credit control and management procedures in reviewing and monitoring debtor accounts and 
outstanding balances as evidenced by the historical aged debtor balances. In addition, management of receivable balances 
includes frequent monitoring thereby minimising the Authority’s exposure to bad debts. For financial assets that are either past 
due or impaired, refer to note 14 ‘Trade and other receivables’.

The Authority’s credit risk management is further supported by rental agreements and sections 116 and 117 of the Port 
Authorities Act 1999. Section 116 refers to the liability to pay port charges in respect of vessels and Section 117 refers to the 
liability to pay port charges in respect of goods. Port charges are defined in Section 115.

Liquidity risk

The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of cash reserves 
and its borrowing facilities. The Authority manages its exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring appropriate procedures are in place 
to manage cash flows, including monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are representative of the 
undiscounted amounts at the balance sheet date. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has 
been made where material.

Carrying 
amount

6 months 
or less

6–12 
months

1–2 
years

2–5 
years

More than 
5 years

Financial liabilities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Trade and other payables 8,607 8,607 - - - -

Interest bearing borrowings 61,139 3,985 4,080 8,510 24,550 20,014

69,746 12,592 4,080 8,510 24,550 20,014

2013

Trade and other payables 5,208 5,208 - - - -

Interest bearing borrowings 66,633 3,704 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

71,841 8,912 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects cash inflows and outflows. Leasing obligations, trade payables 
and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of assets used in the ongoing operations such as property, plant 
and equipment and investments in working capital e.g. inventories and trade receivables. These assets are considered in the 
Authority’s overall liquidity risk.

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of financial liabilities and financial assets. The table includes both interest and 
principal cash flows.

Risk associated with the liability on borrowings is reduced by the Authority paying a guarantee charge. This charge guarantees 
payment to the WATC by the Government for outstanding borrowings in case of default.

Carrying 
amount

6 months 
or less

6–12 
months

1–2 
years

2–5 
years

More than 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 19,646 19,646

Trade and other receivables 40,163 11,050 2,781 5,838 9,104 11,390

59,809 30,696 2,781 5,838 9,104 11,390

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 8,607 8,607

Interest bearing borrowings 61,139 3,985 4,080 8,510 24,550 20,014

69,746 12,592 4,080 8,510 24,550 20,014

Net maturity (9,937) 18,104 (1,299) (2,672) (15,446) (8,624)

Carrying 
amount

6 months 
or less

6–12 
months

1–2 
years

2–5 
years

More than 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,597 8,597

Trade and other receivables 45,210 10,800 2,606 5,472 13,878 12,454

53,807 19,397 2,606 5,472 13,878 12,454

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 5,208 5,208

Interest bearing borrowings 66,633 3,704 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

71,841 8,912 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

Net maturity (18,034) 10,485 (1,184) (2,430) (10,530) (14,375)
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Categories of financial instruments by fair value

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the Authority’s financial instruments. The Directors consider the carrying amounts of 
the financial instruments represent their net fair values.

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 19,646 8,597

Trade and other receivables 13,831 13,406

Receivables (non-current) 26,332 31,804

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 8,607 5,208

Variable rate borrowings 4,220 4,895

Fixed rate borrowings 56,919 61,738

The fair value of the interest bearing borrowings was provided by the WATC using a lending curve, based on the various maturing 
dates for each loan, less a margin. The carrying amount, by maturity, of the interest-bearing borrowings that are exposed to 
interest rate risk are disclosed in note 19.

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, 
are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

(iii) Weighted average cost of capital

Within one year 
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed 
Interest 
Bearing

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Cash and deposits 1.95% 19,646 19,646

Receivables 40,163 40,163

WATC borrowings (floating rate) 5.06% (4,220) (4,220)

WATC borrowings (fixed rate) 6.19% (56,919) (56,919)

Trade and other payables (8,607) (8,607)

Net financial assets (liabilities) 15,426 (56,919) 31,556 (9,937)

Within one year 
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed 
Interest 
Bearing

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Cash and deposits 1.95% 8,597 8,597

Receivables 45,210 45,210

WATC borrowings 5.11% (4,895) (4,895)

WATC borrowings 6.27% (61,738) (61,738)

Trade and other payables (5,208) (5,208)

Net financial assets (liabilities) 3,702 (61,738) 40,002 (18,034)
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24. Commitments

(i) Capital expenditure commitments

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year - 3,440

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -

Later than 5 years - -

- 3,440

(ii) Lease commitments

The Authority has no lease commitments.

(iii) Finance lease receivable

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Amounts receivable under finance leases:

Within 1 year 7,421 7,421

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 19,440 25,012

Later than 5 years 14,789 16,638

41,650 49,071

Unearned finance income (9,846) (12,137)

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 31,804 36,934

Representing finance lease receivable:

Current (note 14) 5,472 5,130

Non-current (note 14) 26,332 31,804

31,804 36,934

Finance leases receivable are in respect of storage and ship loading facilities. One lease agreement expires on 1 April 2017 and 
is charged interest at 6.598% per annum. One lease agreement expires on 1 July 2018 and is charged interest at 6.44% per 
annum. The other agreement expires on 1 July 2027 and is charged interest at 6.30% per annum.

(iv) Operating leases receivable

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Future minimum rentals receivable for operating leases at reporting date:

Within 1 year 308 297

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,165 1,188

Later than 5 years 3,913 4,188

5,386 5,673

Operating leases receivable are in respect of property rentals.
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25. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Note 2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Auditing the accounts and financial statements 46 43

26. Related parties

The following persons held the position of Director during the financial year:

Robert McKinnon•	
Phil Chalmer•	
Tim Shanahan•	
Kathy Finlayson•	
Kim Horne•	

There are no transactions in the year with the Directors or other related parties. 

27. Contingent liabilities

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, there is the following contingent liability:

 The Authority has a contract to load bulk nickel for BHP Billiton Nickel West. Since October 2011 this contract has been 
frustrated due to the bulk loader no longer being fit for purpose. The Authority is unable to obtain funding to make the 
bulk loader operational to continue with this trade as it is presently deemed to be unviable. BHP Billiton Nickel West has 
confirmed a temporary suspension of the current contract with a view to negotiating a new agreement utilising alternative 
methods. The likelihood of any legal action being taken by BHP Billiton Nickel West for breach of contract is considered to 
be low and insufficient information is currently available to determine the financial impact.      

28. Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the 
Department of Environment Regulation (DER).

In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and 
environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation 
required, the Authority may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

During the year the Authority did not report any suspected contaminated sites to DER.
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29. Subsequent Events

In February 2012 the State Government announced a number of port related reforms, including the establishment of four 
regional port authorities one of which is the Southern Ports Authority (SPA) – comprising the ports of Albany, Bunbury and 
Esperance.

The legislation to enact the changes received Royal assent on 20 May 2014. The merger and formation of the Southern Ports 
Authority will occur upon proclamation of relevant sections of the amending legislation. 

Schedule 8, Clause 2 and 3 of the amended Port Authorities Act 1999 (the Act) designates the Esperance Port Authority as a 
merging authority, meaning it will cease to be a Port Authority under the Act and will merge into SPA. 

The amalgamation of the Port Authorities of Albany, Bunbury and Esperance is expected to occur on 1 October 2014.

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) – Shayne Flanagan ceased employment with Esperance Ports Sea and Land on 30 June 
2014. Brad Williamson (CEO - Albany Port Authority) was appointed CEO for the period 1 July 2014 – 30 September 2014 in 
anticipation of the creation of the Southern Ports Authority.

Except as disclosed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Authority, to affect 
significantly the operations of the Authority, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Authority, in future 
financial years.

Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Esperance Port Authority (the Authority):

(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 28 to 61, are in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of 
the Port Authorities Act 1999, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Port 
Authorities Act 1999.

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Authority will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Robert McKinnon      Tim Shanahan

Chairman    Deputy Chair / Director

15 September 2014

Esperance
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Auditor General 

Page 1 of 2 
 

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

        
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
ESPERANCE PORT AUTHORITY 
 
I have audited the financial report of the Esperance Port Authority. The financial report comprises 
the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended on 
that date, Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the Directors’ Declaration. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Esperance Port Authority are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Port Authorities Act 1999, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Port Authorities Act 1999, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Authority’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.
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Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial report of the Esperance Port Authority is in accordance with schedule 
5 of the Port Authorities Act 1999, including: 
 (a) giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of 

its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 (b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 

2001. 
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Report  
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Esperance Port Authority for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 included on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is 
responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on 
the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from this financial report. If users of the financial report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of 
the audited financial report to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial report. 
 

 
DON CUNNINGHAME 
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINANCIAL AUDIT 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
18 September 2014 
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